

PDF issue: 2025-07-03

Construction of Fuzzy Sets for Topological and Algebraic Structures

Horiuchi, Kiyomitsu

<mark>(Degree)</mark> 博士(学術)

(Date of Degree) 1987-03-31

(Date of Publication) 2014-03-07

(Resource Type) doctoral thesis

(Report Number) 甲0674

(URL) https://hdl.handle.net/20.500.14094/D1000674

※ 当コンテンツは神戸大学の学術成果です。無断複製・不正使用等を禁じます。著作権法で認められている範囲内で、適切にご利用ください。



DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

CONSTRUCTION OF FUZZY SETS

FOR TOPOLOGICAL AND ALGEBRAIC STRUCTURES

JANUARY 1987

KIYOMITSU HORIUCHI

THE GRADUATE SCHOOL OF SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY

KOBE UNIVERSITY

DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

CONSTRUCTION OF FUZZY SETS

FOR TOPOLOGICAL AND ALGEBRAIC STRUCTURES

位相および代数構造に適したファジイ集合の構成

JANUARY 1987

KIYOMITSU HORIUCHI

THE GRADUATE SCHOOL OF SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY

KOBE UNIVERSITY

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The author wishes to express his deepest appreciation to Professor Haruo Murakami of Kobe University who gave fruitful suggestions and useful discussions. The author also wishes to express his gratitude to Professor Akihiro Okuyama of Kobe University who gave ceaseless and sincere encouragement, and to Professor Masaharu Mizumoto of Osaka Electro-Communication University who gave fruitful suggestions. The author wishes to thank Professor Lim Chong Keang of University of Malaya for kind advice. Finally, the author would like to thank Mr. Malcolm James for giving assistance in correcting the draft of this thesis.

CONTENTS

CHAPTER O	Introduction ·····	1
0.1	Background	1
0.2	Summary	4
0.3	Operators of fuzzy sets	5
0.4	Basic concepts and notation of fuzzy topological spaces ••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	9
CHAPTER 1	Mode-Type Operators On Fuzzy Set	15
1.1	Definitions and Question	15
1.2	Mode-type operators	17
1.3	Characterization of pointwise, commutative, associative, compatible and averaging operators •••	21
CHAPTER 2	II-fuzzy Topological spaces and II-fuzzy Linear Spaces ••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	27
2.1	Definition of II-fuzzy topological spaces	27
2.2	Representation Theorems	28
2.3	Neighborhood system of a II-fuzzy topological space ••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	32
2.4	Slice topology and Product theorem •••••••	34
2.5	Relation between general topology and II-fuzzy topology	38
2.6	II-fuzzy linear topological spaces	40
CHAPTER 3	$\mathrm{IQ}_{\langle m \rangle}\text{-fuzzy}$ set and particle $\cdots\cdots\cdots\cdots\cdots\cdots\cdots\cdots\cdots\cdots\cdots\cdots\cdots\cdots\cdots\cdots\cdots\cdots\cdots\cdots\cdots\cdots\cdots\cdots\cdots\cdots\cdots\cdots\cdots\cdots\cdots\cdots\cdots\cdots\cdots\cdots$	48
3.1	IQ _{<m></m>} -fuzzy	48
3.2	particle	52
REFERENCES		58

0. INTRODUCTION.

0.1. Background

This paper examines construction of the theory of various effective fuzzy sets.

The notion of fuzzy sets was introduced to represent inexact or vague concepts. Similarly, the theory of probability was constructed to analyze uncertain phenomena. In this sense, fuzzy theory is related to the theory of probability. However, there is a great difference between them. Probability theory can be thought of as being concerned with quantity and fuzzy theory with quality. On one hand, probability theory is a branch of analysis. On the other hand, fuzzy set theory can be interpreted as a branch of axiomatic set theory. Scott and Solovay have used a somewhat similar construction "Boolean-valued sets", to obtain a proof of Cohen's famous result, that the Continuum Hypothesis is independent of the rest of formalized Zermelo-Fraenkel Set Theory (see [38] etc).

Now, before giving the aim and standpoint for this investigation, the definition of fuzzy sets will be introduced.

Let X be a non-empty set (a usual set of objects) whose generic elements are denoted by x. Membership of A, a classical subset of X, is often viewed as a characteristic function from X to {0,1} such that

$$A(\mathbf{x}) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if and only if } \mathbf{x} \in \mathbf{A} \\ 0 & \text{if and only if } \mathbf{x} \notin \mathbf{A}. \end{cases}$$

 $\{0,1\}$ is called a truth value set. If the truth value set is allowed to be the real unit interval [0,1], A is called a fuzzy set (Zadeh [44]). In this paper, $\{0,1\}$ is denoted by 2 and [0,1]

by I. This fuzzy set is called an I-fuzzy set.

Let L be a partially ordered set with order relation \leq . More general fuzzy sets can be define using the set L.

Definition (Goguen [10]). An L-fuzzy subset of X is a function from X to L. X is called the carrier (or universe), and L is called the truth value set.

In order to be able to extend the concept of set operators ('union' and 'intersection'), a lattice should be adopted for the truth value set. Goguen adopted a cl_{∞} -monoid, but many mathematicians adopt a completely distributive lattice with (order reversing) involution as the truth value set, with 'union' and 'intersection' on the same level.

Zadeh and many engineers have proposed various set-like operations for application to engineering problems such as pattern recognition, optimization, decision making, fuzzy algorithms and systems theory. However, most of their works used I-fuzzy sets. The unit interval I has frequently been used in various areas of mathematics, but it is not the best for the truth value set of fuzzy theory. I is a subset of R (the family of real numbers). R represents the intuitive concept of "continuity". The methods of construction used by Cantor and Dedekind are well known. After all, R is constructed by classifying, by some equivalence relation, objects with uncountable cardinality. It is not necessary for engineers to use concepts such as truth value sets. On the contrary, very complex truth value sets are difficult for engineers and nonmathematicians to use. For practicality, fuzzy sets should be

constructed that are both suitable for various applications and mathematically (algebraically and topologically) easy to deal with. The problems is if it is possible to construct such a fuzzy theory and how it can be done.

0.2. Summary

The notation used in this thesis, is described in sections 3 and 4 of chapter 0. Section 3 outlines each chapter from the point of view of operators. Section 4 introduces the basic concept of fuzzy topological spaces.

Chapter 1 characterizes the class of operators which are pointwise, commutative, associative, compatible and averaging. This class of operators coincides with the class of mode-type operators. Consequently, the existential problem of averaging operators with good property can be solved.

In chapter 2, the concepts of II-fuzzy sets, II-fuzzy topological spaces and II-fuzzy linear topologies on vector spaces are introduced. In addition, some of the basic properties of II-fuzzy topological vector spaces are investigated using the notion of i-neighborhoods. Consequently, some problems in fuzzy topological space can be solved.

Section 1 of the last chapter, describes the discovery of subsets (denoted by $IQ_{(m)}$) lying between I and II with the following properties:

- (1) II \supset IQ_(m) \supset I as sublattice;
- (2) there are suitable easy equivalence relations R_1 and R_2 such that II/R_1 is lattice isomorphic to $IQ_{(m)}$ and $IQ_{(m)}/R_2$ is lattice isomorphic to I;

(3) $IQ_{\langle m \rangle}^{X}$ form an Abelian group under a simple operation. Section 2 of the last chapter introduces the concept of 'particle' in fuzzy sets to replace fuzzy points.

0.3. Operators of fuzzy sets

Fuzzy sets were made to extend the concept of sets, so it is important to consider set operators. The classical union and intersection of ordinary subsets of X can be extended by the following formulae, for A, $B \in L^X$

 $(A \lor B)(x) = max[A(x), B(x)]$ for all $x \in X$

 $(A \land B)(x) = \min[A(x), B(x)]$ for all $x \in X$.

Also, the inclusion can be extended by

 $A \leq B$ if and only if $A = A \wedge B$.

N.B. The symbols \lor , \land and \leq will be used here instead of \bigcup , \cap and \subset , to distinguish between fuzzy set operators and ordinary set operators.

However, when L = I, many other operators can be defined on the basis of operators on I, for union and intersection.

Firstly, there are the following probabilistic-like operators:

$$(A + B)(x) = A(x)+B(x)-A(x)\cdot B(x)$$
 for every $x \in X$
 $(A \cdot B)(x) = A(x)\cdot B(x)$ for every $x \in X$.

Secondly, there are the following operators which R.Giles [9] called bold union and intersection:

 $(A \oplus B)(x) = \min[1, A(x)+B(x)]$ for every $x \in X$ $(A \odot B)(x) = \max[0, A(x)+B(x)-1]$ for every $x \in X$.

Other operators defined by

$$(A \bigvee B)(x) = \begin{cases} A(x) & B(x)=0 \\ B(x) & A(x)=0 \\ 1 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$
$$(A \land B)(x) = \begin{cases} A(x) & B(x)=1 \\ B(x) & A(x)=1 \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

These operators satisfy the next inequality

 $A \wedge B \leq A \odot B \leq A \cdot B \leq A \wedge B \leq A \vee B \leq A + B \leq A \oplus B \leq A \vee B$ To generalize the operators, some operators with parameter p were proposed. Yager proposed the following operators: for p > 0,

$$(A \bigvee B)(x) = \min[1, \sqrt[p]{A(x)^{p} + B(X)^{p}}]$$

 $(A \diamondsuit B)(x) = 1 - \min[1, \sqrt[p]{(1 - A(x))^{p} + (1 - B(X))^{p}}].$

Weber proposed the following: $p \leq -1$,

 $(A \bigvee^{W} B)(\mathbf{x}) = \min[1, A(\mathbf{x})+B(\mathbf{x})+p \cdot A(\mathbf{x}) \cdot B(\mathbf{x})]$ $(A \bigwedge^{W} B)(\mathbf{x}) = \max[0, (1+p)(A(\mathbf{x})+B(\mathbf{x})-1)-p \cdot A(\mathbf{x}) \cdot B(\mathbf{x})].$

Yager and Weber used these operators as measures of fuzziness. The aforementioned intersection operators satisfy the conditions of triangular norms. A triangular norm T is a 2-place function from I \times I to I such that

(1) T(0,0) = 0; T(a,1) = a;

- (2) $T(a,b) \leq T(c,d)$ whenever $a \leq c$, $b \leq d$;
- (3) T(a,b) = T(b,a);

(4) T(T(a,b),c) = T(a,T(b,c)).

A corresponding concept can be used for the aforementioned union operators. Thus, various algebraic investigations into union and intersection operators are discussed. (See [24], [3], [32], [35], [36] and [37].) In Chapter 1, averaging operators with good algebraic properties are considered.

The complement of an ordinary subset of X can be expanded as follows:

$$A'(x) = 1 - A(x)$$

There are, of course, other definitions of complement. For example, $A'(x) = \frac{(1 - A(x))}{(1 + P \cdot A(x))}$ -1 < P < ∞ .

Which operators and complements should by selected and used? The answer to this question is different for different cases. It is important to examine properties of operators and to define new operators with good properties.

The infinite union and intersection of X was usually defined by for $A_{j} \ \in \ I^{X} \ (j \in J)\,,$

$$(\bigvee_{j \in J} A_{j})(x) = \sup_{j \in J} A_{j}(x)$$
$$(\bigwedge_{j \in J} A_{j})(x) = \inf_{j \in J} A_{j}(x).$$

However, this definition causes some problems (see, example 1 in the next section) when the concept of topology is introduced. R. Lowen and many others researched I-fuzzy sets. In Chapter 2, the use of the two arrows set II instead of the unit interval I as the truth value set is proposed to avoid these problems, from the point of view of general topology and topological vector spaces. The two arrows set II is a completely distributive lattice with involution.

Chapter 3 deals with symmetric difference operators for fuzzy sets. In the framework of fuzzy set theory there may be different ways to define a symmetric difference.

Firstly, the fuzzy set $A \ominus B$ of element that belong more to A than to B or conversely is defined as

 $(A \ominus B)(x) = |A(x) - B(x)|$ for all $x \in X$. but this \ominus is not associative.

Secondly, the fuzzy set A \triangle B of the elements that approximately belong to A and not to B or conversely to B and not to A is defined as

 $(A \triangle B)(x) = (A'(x) \land B(x)) \lor (A(x) \land B'(x))$ for all $x \in X$.

It can be shown that this \triangle is associative. However, this operator is not satisfactory.

Throughout Chapter 2 and Chapter 3, it is asserted that good operators require good truth value sets.

0.4. Basic concepts and notation of fuzzy topological spaces

Let X be a non-empty set and $(L; \bigvee, \bigwedge, ')$ be a completely distributive lattice with involution , i.e. x'' = x, and if x < ythen $x' > y'(x, y \in L)$. A constant fuzzy set is denoted by h_X , for $h \in L$. The supremum of L is denoted by 1 and the infimum of L is denoted by 0.

Definition 0.4.1. (Chang[2] and Goguen[12]) An L-fuzzy topology is a family \mathcal{O} of L-fuzzy sets of X which satisfies the following conditions:

- (1) 0_{χ} , $1_{\chi} \in \mathcal{O}_{\ell}$,
- (2) If A, $B \in \mathcal{O}$, then $A \land B \in \mathcal{O}$,
- (3) If $A_j \in \mathcal{O}$ for each $j \in J$, then $\bigvee_{i \in J} A_j \in \mathcal{O}$.

An L-fuzzy topological space is denoted by $(X, \mathcal{O}L, L)$. Every member of \mathcal{A} is called an open fuzzy set. A fuzzy set is closed if and only if its involution is open. An ordinary topological space is a 2-fuzzy topological space, it will be denoted by $(X, \mathcal{O}L, 2)$.

Note.1. The above fuzzy topology \mathcal{O}_{L} is a subset of L^{X} , i.e. an element of ${}_{2}L^{X}$. Properly speaking, a fuzzy topology should be an element of ${}_{L}L^{X}$.

Note.2. Lowen's definition of fuzzy topology adopted condition (1') below instead of condition (1) (see [31], [25], [26], [27], [28], [29] and [30]),

(1') every constant fuzzy set $h_{\chi} \in {\it OL}$.

Most of the concepts of ordinary topology can be generalized for fuzzy topology.

Let (X, \mathcal{J}, L) be an L-fuzzy topological space. The interior and closure of a fuzzy set are defined in same ways, and denoted by 'Int' and 'Cl' respectably, i.e. for $A \in L^X$,

Int
$$A = \bigvee \{ B \in L^X \mid B \in \mathcal{O}_L \text{ and } B \leq A \}$$

Cl $A = \bigwedge \{ B \in L^X \mid B' \in \mathcal{O}_L \text{ and } B \geq A \}.$

A subfamily \mathcal{B} of \mathcal{A} is a base for \mathcal{A} if and only if each member of \mathcal{A} can be expressed as the union of some member of \mathcal{B} . A subfamily \mathcal{Y} of \mathcal{B} is a subbase for \mathcal{A} if and only if the family of finite intersections of member of \mathcal{Y} forms a base for \mathcal{A} . A family \mathcal{C} of fuzzy sets is a cover of a fuzzy set B if and only if $B \leq \bigvee \{A | A \in \mathcal{C}\}$. It is an open cover if and only if each member of \mathcal{C} is an open fuzzy set. A subcover of \mathcal{C} is a subfamily of \mathcal{C} which is also a cover.

Let $f: X \longrightarrow Y$ be a function from X to Y. Then, f induces a function $F^{-1} : L^{\underline{Y}} \longrightarrow L^{\underline{X}}$ defined by

 $F^{-1}(B)(x) = B(f(x))$ (i.e. $F^{-1}(B) = B \circ F$).

Also, f induces another function $F : L^X \longrightarrow L^Y$ defined by $F(A)(y) = \begin{cases} \bigvee \{ A(x) \mid x \in f^{-1}(y) \} & \text{if } f^{-1}(y) \text{ is not empty} \\ 0 \text{ (minimal element of L)} & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$

Then, $F^{-1}(F(A)) = A$. Thus, this F is called the fuzzy function from L^X to L^Y induced by the function f from X to Y, and F^{-1} is the inverse of F.

More generally, M.A.Erceg [5] defined fuzz relation and fuzz function without using the inducing function. (For distinction, we do not call it fuzzy function.) **Definition. 0.4.2.** A fuzz relation between L^X and L^Y is a map R : $L^X \longrightarrow L^Y$

such that

(1)
$$R(O_X) = O_Y$$
 and
(2) $R(\bigvee_{j \in J} A_j) = \bigvee_{j \in J} R(A_j)$ for all $A_j \in L^X$

are satisfied.

The inverse fuzz relation \mathbb{R}^{-1} is defined to be a map $\mathbb{R}^{-1}: \mathbb{L}^X \longrightarrow \mathbb{L}^Y$ where $\mathbb{R}^{-1}(\mathbb{A}) = \bigwedge \{\mathbb{B} \in \mathbb{L}^X | \mathbb{R}(\mathbb{B}') \leq \mathbb{A}' \}.$

Definition. 0.4.3. A fuzz function from L^X to L^Y is a map $F:L^X \longrightarrow L^Y$

such that

(1)
$$F(O_X) = O_Y$$
,
(2) $F(\bigvee_{j \in J} A_j) = \bigvee_{j \in J} F(A_j)$ for all $A_j \in L^X$,
(3) $F^{-1}(A') = [F^{-1}(A)]'$

are satisfied.

In view of condition (3), we have $F^{-1}(A) = \bigvee \{B | F(B) \leq A\}$.

It is easy to prove that a fuzzy function F induced by the function f from X to Y is a fuzz function and its inverse fuzz function is the same as the inverse of F.

Definition. 0.4.4. Let (X, \mathcal{O}_1, L) and (Y, \mathcal{O}_2, L) be L-fuzzy topological spaces. A fuzzy function (or fuzz function) F from (X, \mathcal{O}_1, L) to (Y, \mathcal{O}_2, L) is fuzzy continuous if and only if $F^{-1}(U) \in \mathcal{O}_1$ for every $U \in \mathcal{O}_2$.

Definition. 0.4.5. A fuzzy topological space is compact if and only if each open cover of the space has a finite subcover. In fuzzy topology, there have been many other definitions of compactness. The reason is that the above compact does not have good properties for I-fuzzy topology. (See example 1.)

In usual topological theory, there are some operations on topological spaces, i.e. methods of constructing new topological spaces from old ones. The most well-known and important six methods are "subspace", "sum of spaces", "Cartesian product", "inverse systems" and "function space". There are various extensions of above operations to fuzzy topology (see [42], [19], [5] etc). Wong[42] defined the following fuzzy product topology. If (X_j, \mathcal{O}_j, L) are L-fuzzy topological spaces for $j \in J$, we define their product $\prod_{j \in J} (X_j, \mathcal{O}_j, L)$ to be the L-fuzzy topological space (X, \mathcal{O}, L) , where $X = \prod_{j \in J} X_j$ is the ordinary set product and \mathcal{O}_l is the topology on X generated by the subbase

 $\mathcal{J} = \{ \mathbb{P}_{j}^{-1}(\mathbb{A}_{j}) \mid \mathbb{A}_{j} \in \mathcal{N}_{j}, j \in J \},\$

where $P_j: L^X \longrightarrow L^X$ induced fuzzy function by the usual projection onto the i-th coordinate $p_j: X \longrightarrow X_j$. This OL is the weakest topology such that each P_j is continuous.

Example 1 (in Goguen [12]). For $k,m \in \mathbb{N}$ (the family of natural numbers), let $P_{k,m}$ be a function from \mathbb{N} to I such that

$$P_{k,m}(n) = \begin{cases} 0 & n > m \\ 1-1/k & n \leq m. \end{cases}$$

Let $(X_j, \mathcal{O}l_j, I)$ be an I-fuzzy topological space for $j \in N$, where $X_j = N$ and $\mathcal{O}l_j = \{ O_X, I_X \text{ and } P_{j,m} (m \in N) \}$. Then, $(X_j, \mathcal{O}l_j, I)$ is compact for every $j \in N$. However, $\prod_{j \in J} (X_j, \mathcal{O}l_j, I)$ is not compact. This example means that the Tychonoff theorem does not hold. To avoid this problem, Lowen changed the definition of topology and compact, Wang G.J. altered the definition of compact, Pu and Liu used another concept of cover and Hutton changed the definition of product. (See[27], [41], [34] and [19].) However, the fundamental cause of this problem is the truth value set I (which infinite union consist of supremum). The suggestion by Goguen [12] that a better lattice should be used is probably correct.

The definition of neighborhood is also a problem for I-fuzzy topological space theory.

Definition. 0.4.6 (in Warren [39]). A I-fuzzy set U in a I-fuzzy topological space (X, \mathcal{N} , I) is a neighborhood of a point $x \in X$ if and only if there exists $\mathcal{O} \in \mathcal{N}$ such that $U \geq \mathcal{O}$ and $U(x) = \mathcal{O}(x) > 0$.

 $\mathcal{V}_{\mathbf{x}}$ denotes the family of all neighborhoods of x which are determined by the fuzzy topology \mathcal{R} on X.

Theorem. 0.4.7 (in Warren [39]). Let (X, \mathcal{O}, I) be a I-fuzzy topological space. Then for each $x \in X$, \mathcal{V}_x satisfies:

(1)
$$1_{\mathbf{X}} \in \mathcal{U}_{\mathbf{X}}$$
,
(2) if $\mathbf{U} \in \mathcal{U}_{\mathbf{X}}$, then $\mathbf{U}(\mathbf{x}) > 0$,
(3) if $\mathbf{U} \in \mathcal{U}_{\mathbf{X}}$, $\mathbf{U} \leq \mathbf{V}$ and $\mathbf{U}(\mathbf{x}) = \mathbf{V}(\mathbf{x})$, then $\mathbf{V} \in \mathcal{U}_{\mathbf{X}}$,
(4) if $\mathbf{U}_{\mathbf{j}} \in \mathcal{U}_{\mathbf{X}}$ j \in J, then $\bigvee \{\mathbf{U}_{\mathbf{j}} : \mathbf{j} \in \mathbf{J}\} \in \mathcal{U}_{\mathbf{X}}$,
(5) if U, $\mathbf{V} \in \mathcal{U}_{\mathbf{X}}$, then U $\land \mathbf{V} \in \mathcal{U}_{\mathbf{X}}$,
(6) if $\mathbf{U} \in \mathcal{U}_{\mathbf{X}}$, then there exists $\mathbf{U} \in \mathcal{U}_{\mathbf{X}}$ such that $\mathbf{V} \leq \mathbf{U}$,
 $\mathbf{V}(\mathbf{x}) = \mathbf{U}(\mathbf{x})$ and if $\mathbf{V}(\mathbf{y}) > 0$ then $\mathbf{V} \in \mathcal{U}_{\mathbf{y}}$.

Compare this theorem with theorem 2.3.2. proposed here.

Finally, the definitions (or equivalence definitions) of the separation axioms T_0 and T_1 in Hutton [20] should be examined.

Definition. 0.4.8. (X, \mathcal{O} , L) is T_0 if every $A \in L^X$ can be written in the form $A = \bigvee_{i \in I} \bigwedge_{j \in J} B_{ij}$, where B_{ij} is an open or closed set. Also, (X, \mathcal{O} , L) is T_1 if every $A \in L^X$ can be written in the form $A = \bigvee_{i \in I} B_i$, where B_i is a closed set.

There were two problems in the theory of I-fuzzy topological spaces. One problem is "how should fuzzy compactness be defined?", and the other problem is "how should fuzzy points be treated?". Both problems can be solved by using II-fuzzy sets.

1. MODE-TYPE OPERATORS ON FUZZY SETS

This chapter introduce some new type operators on fuzzy sets whose truth value set is I (i.e., [0, 1] interval). There are many (aggregation) operators already in existence and some of these were selected and used for fuzzy decision-making, fuzzy logic and so on.

One of the axioms on aggregation operators in [4] or [6] is "continuity". Mathematically speaking, continuity is a very good property, but it is a restrictive condition. In section 3, we can define mode-type operators on fuzzy sets, which does not require continuity. We show that mode-type operators are precisely those operators which are pointwise, commutative, associative, compatible and averaging.

1.1. Definitions and Question

Let X be an ordinary set, $I^{\overrightarrow{\lambda}}$ the family of all fuzzy subsets of X.

Definition 1.1.1. A binary operator $\oplus: I^X \times I^X \longrightarrow I^X$ is said to be commutative if $A \oplus B = B \oplus A$ for all $A, B \in I^X$, idempotent if $A \oplus A = A$ for all $A \in I^X$, associative if $(A \oplus B) \oplus C = A \oplus (B \oplus C)$ for all $A, B, C \in I^X$, compatible if $A \oplus B \ge C \oplus D$ for all $A, B, C, D \in I^X$ such that $A \ge C$ and $B \ge D$, averaging if $A \lor B \ge A \oplus B \ge A \land B$ for all $A, B \in I^X$.

It is obvious from the definition that every averaging operator is idempotent.

Definition 1.1.2. An operator \oplus is said to be pointwise if there exists an operator $* : I \times I \longrightarrow I$ such that

 $(A \oplus B)(x) = A(x) * B(x)$ for all A, $B \in I^X$.

It is clear that operators \bigvee and \wedge are pointwise. The + in [21] is not pointwise.

Definition 1.1.3. A binary operator $*:I \times I \rightarrow I$ is said to be commutative if a * b = b * a for all $a, b \in I$, associative if (a * b) * c = a * (b * c) for all $a, b, c \in I$, compatible if $a * b \ge c * d$ for all $a, b, c, d \in I$ such that $a \ge c$ and $b \ge d$, averaging if $max(a,b) \ge a * b \ge min(a,b)$ for all $a, b \in I$.

When an operator θ is pointwise, it is obvious from the definition that θ is commutative, associative, compatible and averaging if and only if the corresponding operator * is commutative, associative, compatible and averaging respectively.

Axioms of aggregation operators similar to the definitions given above were introduced in [4] and [6].

Median-type operators on I^X are defined by (A \oplus B)(x) = median [A(x), B(x), m] for some m, $0 \le m \le 1$.

The case when $0 \le m \le 1$ was studied in [4, p.222]. It is clear that operators \bigvee and \land are median-type operators. And every median-type operator is pointwise, commutative, associative, compatible and averaging.

Question. Does there exist pointwise, commutative, associative, compatible and averaging operator other than the mediantype operators?

1.2. Mode-type operators

Let L be a linearly ordered set, and let f be a function from I to L satisfying the following two conditions: for every closed interval [a, b] of I,

- (1) there exists a $c \in [a, b]$ such that $f(c) = m, m = \sup\{f(x) \mid x \in [a, b]\},$
- and (2) for the subset $M = \{c | c \in [a, b], f(c) = m\}$ of [a, b],sup $\{d | d \in M\} \in M$.

Definition 1.2.1. Let $f:I \rightarrow L$ be a function stated above. And let a, b be arbitrary elements of I. We define a binary operation f on I by the following way:

if $a \leq b$,

 $a *_{f} b = \sup\{c | c \in [a, b], f(c) = m\}, where \sup\{f(x) | x \in [a, b]\},$ if b < a,

a $*_{f}$ b = sup{c|c\in[b, a], f(c) = m}, where sup{f(x)|x\in[b, a]}. That is, $*_{f}$ is the supremum of the subset in I on which f takes its maximum.

The operator $*_{f}$ would then induce an operator θ_{f} on I^{X} defined by $(A \ \theta_{f} B)(x) = A(x) *_{f} B(x).$

We shall call the operator \bigoplus_{f} "mode-type operator" and the function f "mode function".

Note that every continuous function from I to I is a mode function.

Example 1. Let L = I. If $f:I \rightarrow I$ is defined by $f(x) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } x \text{ is irrational or } 0 & \text{or } 1, \\ 1/n & \text{if } x = m/n & \text{s.t. } m \text{ and } n \text{ are irreducible.} \end{cases}$ Then, $0 *_f 1 = \frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{4} *_f \frac{2}{5} = \frac{1}{3}$. See figure 1.

We can define the corresponding Θ_f from this function f. This example indicates that mode-function does not need continuity.

We can define similar operators by using the supremum of the subset in I on which f takes its minimum, the infimum of the subset in I on which f takes its minimum or the infimum of the subset in I on which f takes its maximum. All these operators are essentially the same.

Proposition 1.2.1. Every mode-type operator θ_{f} is pointwise, commutative, associative, compatible and averaging.

Proof. From the definition, the θ_{f} is pointwise, commutative and averaging. Because θ_{f} is pointwise, it is sufficient that $*_{f}$ is compatible and associative.

To prove compatibility, let $a \leq b \leq c \leq d$. It is clear that $f(b *_{f} c) \geq f(x)$ for any $x \in [b, c]$, and $f(b *_{f} c) \leq f(b *_{f} d)$ since $[b, c] \subset [b, d]$. Then, we have $b *_{f} d \in [b, b*_{f}c)$. Hence $b *_{f} d \geq b *_{f} c$. Since $f(b *_{f} c) > f(x)$ for any $x \in (b*_{f}c, c]$ and $f(b *_{f} c) \leq f(a *_{f} c)$, we have $a *_{f} c \in (b*_{f}c, c]$. Hence $a *_{f} c \leq b *_{f} c$. Therefore $a *_{f} c \leq b *_{f} c \leq b *_{f} d$. Next, we shall show associativity. For any $x \in [a, b]$, $f(a *_{f} b)$

 $\geq f(x). \text{ Hence, } f(a *_{f} b) = f((a *_{f} b) *_{f} x). \text{ By definition,}$ $a *_{f} b = (a *_{f} b) *_{f} x (1)$ $\text{Let } a \leq b \leq c. \text{ From (1), we have}$ $(a *_{f} c) *_{f} b = a *_{f} c (2)$ $\text{Since } a *_{f} b \geq a, \text{ we have } (a *_{f} b) *_{f} c \geq a *_{f} c. \text{ By compati-bility,} a *_{f} b \leq a *_{f} c. \text{ So } (a *_{f} b) *_{f} c \leq (a *_{f} c) *_{f} c. \\ \text{From (1), } (a *_{f} b) *_{f} c \leq a *_{f} c. \text{ Hence}$ $(a *_{f} b) *_{f} c = a *_{f} c (3) \\ \text{Similarly,}$ $a *_{f} (b *_{f} c) = a *_{f} c (4) \\ \text{From (2), (3) and (4),}$

 $(a *_{f} b) *_{f} c = (a *_{f} c) *_{f} b = a *_{f} (b *_{f} c) = a *_{f} c.$ This shows associativity.

Proposition 1.2.2. All median-type operators including \lor and \land are mode-type operators.

Proof. If f is a monotone increasing function from I to I, then the corresponding Θ_f is \vee . If f is a strictly monotone decreasing function from I to I, then the corresponding Θ_f is \wedge . For m in I, we define the function f from I to I by f(x) $= 1-(x-m)^2$. Then, $(A \oplus_f B)(x) = median [A(x), B(x), m]$.

Remark. Not every mode-type operator is median-type as seen by the following example.

Example 2. Let L = I, and suppose that $f(x) = \frac{1}{2}\sin 2\pi x + \frac{1}{2}$. Then, $0 *_{f} \frac{1}{2} = \frac{1}{4} + \frac{1}{2} *_{f} = 1$. See figure 2. We can define the corresponding θ_{f} from this function f. This mode-type operator is not median-type.



figure 2



1.3. Characterization of pointwise, commutative, associative, compatible and averaging operators

In this section, we shall show that the converse of Proposition 1.2.1 is also true. That is, all pointwise, commutative, associative, compatible and averaging operators are mode-type operators.

Let \oplus be an pointwise, commutative, associative, compatible and averaging. operator on I. Since any operator \oplus is pointwise, we see that there exists an operator * such that

 $(A \oplus B)(x) = A(x) * B(x).$

Lemma 1.3.1. For any $x, y \in I$ such that x * y = c, it holds that x * c = c.

Proof. Suppose that x and y are two elements satisfying the condition that x * y = c. From the properties of the operator *, we can easily obtain x * c = x * (x * y) = (x * x) * y = x * y = c.

Lemma 1.3.2. If a, b, c belong to I and a < b < c, it holds that a * c = a * b or b * c.

Proof. We put d = a * c and suppose that $d \leq b$. From the compatibility condition, we have $d = a * c \geq a * b$. On the other hand, by Lemma 1.3.1 and the compatibility condition, $d = a * d \leq a * b$. Therefore d = a * b. Similarly, in case that $d \geq b$, from Lemma 1.3.1 and the compatibility condition, we obtain d = b * c. This completes the proof.

Now, for every c of I, we set

 $i(c) = inf\{x | there exists z \in I such that x * z = c\}$

and

 $s(c) = \sup\{x \mid \text{there exists } z \in I \text{ such that } x * z = c\}.$

Lemma 1.3.3. Let x and c be two elements such that $i(c) < x \leq c$, then x * c = c.

Proof. By the definition of i(c), we can find y and z of I such that $i(c) \leq y < x$ and y * z = c. Since y * c = c by Lemma 1.3.1, we obtain that from the compatibility condition,

 $c = y * c \leq x * c \leq c * c = c.$ This completes the proof.

We can prove the following Lemma analogously to Lemma 1.3.3.

Lemma 1.3.4. Let x and c be two elements such that $s(c) > x \ge c$, then x + c = c.

Let $\{1,2,3\}$ be the three points set. We introduce the lexicographic order on the set $I \times \{1,2,3\}$, i.e.,

for every i, $j \in I$ such that i < j iff (i, x) < (j, x), and for every $i \in I$, (i, 1) < (i, 2) < (i, 3).

Then, we define the function f, which depends on the operator *, from I to I×{1,2,3} such that

 $f(c) = \begin{cases} (s(c)-i(c), 1) & \text{for } i(c) * c \neq c \text{ and } s(c) * c \neq c, \\ (s(c)-i(c), 3) & \text{for } i(c) * s(c) = c, \\ (s(c)-i(c), 2) & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$

Now, we can prove the following,

Theorem 1.3.5. The family of all pointwise, commutative, associative, compatible and averaging operators coincides with that of all mode-type operators.

Proof. Since every mode-type operator satisfies the pointwise, commutative, associative, compatible and averaging conditions, by Proposition 1, it suffices to show that every pointwise, commutative, associative, compatible and averaging operator * is a mode-type operator corresponding to a function f from I to $I \times \{1,2,3\}$ defined above. To see this, we shall prove that f(x) <f(a * b) for any closed subinterval [a, b] of I and for any element $x \in [a, b]$ with $x \neq a * b$, because the operator introduced by f is identical with the operator *.

Put c = a * b.

[I] Consider the first case that $a \neq c$ and $b \neq c$. Let x be any given element with $a \leq x < c < b$.

Assume that s(x) > c. Then there is an element y such that c < y < s(x). From Lemma 1.3.1, 1.3.4 and the compatibility condition, we get $c = a * c \leq x * y = x$. But this contradicts the fact that $a \leq x < c < b$. Hence we have

 $s(\mathbf{x}) \leq c.$ (1)

If i(x) < i(c), there exists an element z with

 $i(x) < z < i(c) \leq a \leq x \leq s(x) \leq c < b.$ (2) Combining (2) with Lemma 1.3.3 and the compatibility condition, we can easily verify that $z * a \leq z * x = x$ and z * b > x. By Lemma 1.3.2 and (2) we see that z * b = z * a or z * b = a * b. Since $z * a \leq z * x = x$ and z * b > x, we have z * b = a * b= c. On the other hand, $z * b \neq c$ from the definition of i(c). Thus we have

 $i(x) \geq i(c)$.

Since b > c and a * b = c, it is clear that c < s(c). Combining this inequality with (1) and (3), we conclude that s(x) - i(x) $\leq c - i(c) < s(c) - i(c)$, which means f(x) < f(c) as desired. When x is an element with $a < c < x \leq b$, we can analogously prove that f(x) < f(c).

(3)

[II] Next we consider the second case that a = c. Assume that there exists an element p such that p < a and p * b = a. Then, by the result of the first case, we observe that, for every element $x \in [p, b]$ such that $x \neq a$, f(x) < f(a). Hence f(x) < f(a) = f(c) for every $x \in (a, b]$.

On the other hand, suppose that $p * b \neq a$ for all p < a. When i(a) < a, there exist two elements q and r such that $i(a) < q < a \leq r$ and q * r = a. Since q * a = a by Lemma 1.3.1, using Lemma 1.3.2 and a * b = c = a, we obtain q * b = a. But this contradicts the assumption that $p * b \neq a$ for all p < a. Therefore we get

$$i(a) = a, \tag{4}$$

and hence

i(a) * a = a. (5)

Let x be an element of (a, b] and suppose that i(x) < a. Then we can take an element y such that i(x) < y < a. Thus we obtain $x = y * x \leq a * x \leq a * b = a$, which contradicts the fact that a < x. Hence we have

 $a \leq i(x). \tag{6}$

By Lemma 1.3.1 and the fact that a * b = c = a, we can easily see that a * x = a. When $s(x) \leq b$, we have $s(x) \leq s(a)$ because a * b = a and so $b \leq s(a)$.

Assume that s(x) > b. For any element z such that $a < x \leq b$ $\langle z \langle s(x), by using$ Lemma 1.3.2, we can verify that a * z = a * x or a * z = x * z. If a * z = x * z, then a * z = x * z = x by Lemma 1.3.4. From Lemma 1.3.1, a * x = x. But a * x \leq a * b = a. This contradicts a < x. Hence a * z = a * x = a. Therefore, $s(a) \geq s(x)$ (7)We shall now show that f(x) < f(c). By (4), (6) and (7), we can observe that $s(a) - i(a) \ge s(a) - a \ge s(x) - i(x).$ In particular, when s(a) - i(a) = s(x) - i(x), it holds that i(a) = a = i(x), and therefore we deduce that $a * a \le a * x = i(x) * x \le a * b = a.$ (8) From (5) and (8), we obtain i(a) * a = a and $i(x) * x = a \neq x$. When s(a) * a = a, i(a) * s(a) = a by Lemma 1.3.2. Then, $i(x) * s(x) = i(a) * s(a) = a \neq x$. Hence, f(a) = (s(a)-i(a), 3)f(x) = (s(x)-i(x), 1) or (s(x)-i(x), 2). When $s(a) * a \neq a$, put p = s(a) * a. From Lemma 1.3.1, a * p = p. If a , then <math>a * p = a by Lemma 1.3.4. This contradicts that $a \neq p$. Hence $p \geq s(a)$. So $a \leq x \leq b < s(x) = s(a) \leq p$, but $p = s(a) * a \leq s(a) * x = s(x) * x$. Hence, $s(x) * x \neq x$. Therefore, f(a) = (s(a)-i(a), 2)f(x) = (s(x)-i(x), 1).We obtain f(x) < f(c). [III] In case that b = c, we can similarly show that f(x) < f(c)

as in the second case. This completes the proof.

From Proposition 1.2.1 and Theorem 1.3.5, we conclude that modetype operators are precisely those operators which are pointwise, commutative, associative, compatible and averaging. However, there are operators which do not satisfy some of these properties as illustrated by the following example.

Example 3. Let
$$*_1$$
, $*_2$, $*_3$, $*_4$ and $*_5$ be operators on I defined by
 $a *_1 b = a$
 $a *_2 b = \frac{1}{2}(a + b)$
 $a *_3 b = \begin{cases} a \quad (if \frac{1}{2} \leq a \leq b \text{ or } b < \frac{1}{2} \leq a \text{ or } a \leq b < \frac{1}{2}) \\ b \quad (otherwise). \end{cases}$

And

$$a *_{4} b = \begin{cases} 1 & (if a = 1 \text{ or } b = 1) \\ a & (if a = b) \\ a & (if 3a-[3a] < 3b-[3b]) \\ b & (if 3a-[3a] > 3b-[3b]) \\ \frac{1}{3}(1+3a-[3a]) & (otherwise). \end{cases}$$

For the operators $*_1$, $*_2$, $*_3$ and $*_4$, we can define the corresponding operators θ_1 , θ_2 , θ_3 and θ_4 on I^X by $(A \ \theta_1 \ B)(x) = A(x) *_1 B(x)$ (i=1,2,3,4). Then θ_1 is not commutative, θ_2 is not associative, θ_3 and θ_4 are not compatible. Triangular norms in section 0.3 are not averaging.

2. II-FUZZY TOPOLOGICAL SPACES AND II-FUZZY LINEAR SPACES

In this chapter we induce the concept of II-fuzzy sets, IIfuzzy topological spaces and II-fuzzy linear topologies on vector spaces. And, using the notion of i-neighborhoods, some of the basic properties of II-fuzzy topological vector spaces are investigated.

The concept of fuzzy sets, whose truth value set is the unit interval I = [0,1], was introduced by Zadeh [44], and that of Lfuzzy sets was introduced by Goguen [10]. Later, Chang [2] introduced fuzzy topologies on a set of fuzzy sets. Since then, much work has been done on fuzzy topological spaces. Then, the notion of fuzzy topological vector space on I-fuzzy set was given by Katsaras [21], [22] and [23]. In this paper, we consider special fuzzy sets whose truth value set is not I but II (two arrows set). And we investigate the fuzzy topological vector space on II-fuzzy set. As the II-fuzzy sets have the representation sets, it is easy to imagine various topological structures. Then, we explain II-fuzzy topological vector spaces systematically.

2.1. Definition of II-fuzzy topological spaces

We consider a set of two I's, where I=[0,1], placed side by side, and denote the interval on the right by I^+ and the other interval on the left by I^- . Points in I^+ are denoted by x^+ , and

points in I are denoted by x. The two arrows set II is the union of I^+ and I^- , that is.

 $II = I^{+} \cup I^{-} = (x^{+} | x \in I) \cup (x^{-} | x \in I) = (x^{+}, x^{-} | x \in I).$

We introduce the following order relation on II. For all $a \in I$, we define $a^- < a^+$. If a < b (a, b (I), then $a^+ < b^-$. It is easy to see that the set II is a linearly ordered set by this relation with the least element 0⁻ and the greatest element 1⁺. It is well known that any complete linearly ordered set is a completely distributive lattice (see Birkhoff [1] etc). Thus, the set II is a completely distributive lattice.

We define the operation ' from II to II, by

 $(a^+)' = (1-a)^-$ and $(a^-)' = (1-a)^+$ where $a^+ \in I^+ \subset II$, $a^- \in I^- \subset II$. Since the operation has the involution property, the set II is a completely distributive lattice with involution. Let X be a non-empty set. The lattice operations \bigvee , \bigwedge and \prime in II induce the corresponding lattice operations in II^{X} (the set of all function from X into II) which we also denote by \bigvee , \bigwedge and \checkmark respectively.

$$\left(\bigvee_{j\in J} A_{j}\right)(\mathbf{x}) = \bigvee_{j\in J} A_{j}(\mathbf{x}),$$
$$\left(\bigwedge_{j\in J} A_{j}\right)(\mathbf{x}) = \bigwedge_{j\in J} A_{j}(\mathbf{x}),$$
$$\left(\bigwedge_{j\in J} A_{j}\right)(\mathbf{x}) = \left(\bigwedge_{j\in J} A_{j}(\mathbf{x})\right)$$

and (A')(x) = (A(x))'.

In the sequel, we shall consider the II-fuzzy topological space (X, *A*, II).

Representation Theorems 2.2.

Let X be a set (i.e. a set of points). We denote the set $\{A \subset X \times I \mid (x,i) \in A \text{ implies } (x,j) \in A \text{ for each } j \leq i \}$ by M(X).

It is clear that $M(X) \subset P(X \times I)$ (the power set of $X \times I$) and M(X) is a complete lattice with \bigcup (set union) and \bigcap (set intersection). We define the involution \checkmark from $P(X \times I)$ to $P(X \times I)$ by

A' = {(x,i) $\in X \times I \mid (x,1-i) \notin A$ } for $A \in P(X \times I)$. The lattice (M(X); \bigcup , \bigcap ,') is a completely distributive lattice with involution.

Theorem 2.2.1. The function $k : II^{X} \longrightarrow P(X \times I)$ defined by $k(B) = \{(x,i) \in X \times I \mid B(x) \ge i+ \}$ ($B \in II^{X}$)

has the following properties:

(0) k is an isomorphism from $(II^X; V, \Lambda, ')$ onto $(M(X); \cup, \cap, '),$

(1)
$$k(\bigvee_{j \in J} B_j) = \bigcup_{j \in J} k(B_j)$$
 $(B_j \in II^X)$,
(2) $k(\bigwedge_{j \in J} B_j) = \bigcap_{j \in J} k(B_j)$ $(B_j \in II^X)$,
(3) $k(B') = [k(B)]'$ $(B \in II^X)$.

Proof. (0) Let A, $B \in II^{X}$ such that $A \neq B$, then there exists $x \in X$ such that $A(x) \neq B(x)$. When A(x) > B(x), there exists an $i \in I$ such that $A(x) \geq i^{+} > B(x)$. Then $(x,i) \in k(A)$ but $(x,i) \notin k(B)$. Hence, k is one-to-one. Suppose $C \in M(X)$, and let $D \in I^{X}$ such that $D(x) = \sup_{(x,i) \in C} i$.

We define $E \in II^X$ by $E(\mathbf{x}) = \begin{cases} [D(\mathbf{x})]^+ & (\mathbf{x}, D(\mathbf{x})) \in C \\ [D(\mathbf{x})]^- & (\mathbf{x}, D(\mathbf{x})) \notin C. \end{cases}$

Then k(E) = C, therefore k is onto.

(1) Let $A, B \in II^X$ be such that $A(x) \leq B(x)$ for every $x \in X$. For each $(x,i) \in k(A)$, we have $i^+ < k(A) \leq k(B)$, hence $(x,i) \in k(B)$. This shows that $k(A) \subset k(B)$. Therefore k is order preserving. Let $B_j \in II^X$, then $\bigvee_{j \in J} B_j \geq B_j$. Since k is order preserving, we have $k(\bigvee_{j \in J} B_j) \supset k(B_j)$. Hence $k(\bigvee_{j \in J} B_j) \supset \bigcup_{j \in J} k(B_j)$. Let $(x,i) \in k(\bigvee_{j \in J} B_j)$, then $[\bigvee_{j \in J} B_j](x) > i^+$. Then, there exists $j_0 \in J$ such that $B_{j_0}(x) > i^+$. Thus $(x,i) \in k(B_{j_0})$. Therefore we have $k(\bigvee_{j \in J} B_j) \subset \bigcup_{j \in J} k(B_j)$.

We can prove (2) similarly.

(3)
$$k(B') = \{ (x,i) \in X \times I | B'(x) \ge i+ \}$$

 $= \{ (x,i) \in X \times I | B(x) \le (1-i)^{-} < (1-i)^{+} \}$
 $= \{ (x,i) \in X \times I | (x,1-i) \notin k(B) \}$
 $= [k(B)]'.$

We shall call the set k(B) the representation of the IIfuzzy subset B of X.

Since I is a distributive lattice, it is isomorphic to a ring of sets (by Birkhoff-Stone representation theorem). However this isomorphism is not sup-inf-preserving. Therefore we see that II^X has a better property than I^X .

Let f be a function from X to Y. We will define the function \tilde{f} from X×I to Y×I by $\tilde{f}(x,i) = (f(x),i)$. **Proposition 2.2.2.** Let F be a fuzzy function from II^X to II^Y generated by the function f. Then $F = k^{-1} \circ f \circ k$.



Proposition 2.2.3. Let (X, \mathcal{O}, II) be a II-fuzzy topological space, and $K(\mathcal{O})$ the set $\{A \subset X \times I \mid A = k(B), B \in \mathcal{O}\}$. Then $(X \times I, K(\mathcal{O}), 2)$ is a topological space.

Proof. Since 0_X^- , $1_X^+ \in II^X$, we have $\emptyset = k(0_X^-) \in K(\mathcal{O}_i)$ and $X \times I = k(1_X^-) \in K(\mathcal{O}_i)$. Let $U_j \in K(\mathcal{O}_i)$. Then, for each j, there exists a $V_j \in \mathcal{O}_i^-$ s.t. $k(V_j) = U_j$. We see that $U_1 \cap U_2 = k(V_1) \cap k(V_2) = k(V_1 \wedge V_2) \in K(\mathcal{O}_i)$ and $\bigcup_{j \in J} U_j = \bigcup_{j \in J} k(V_j) = k(\bigvee_j V_j) \in K(\mathcal{O}_i)$.

Proposition 2.2.4. Let (X, \mathcal{J}, II) be a II-fuzzy topological space, and $K'(\mathcal{J})$ the set $\{A \subset X \times I \mid A = k(B')^{c}, B \in \mathcal{J}\}$, where $k(B')^{c}$ is the complement of k(B'). Then $(X \times I, K'(\mathcal{J}), 2)$ is a topological space.

We can prove this in the same way.

We shall call the space $(X \times I, K(\mathcal{O}), 2)$ the open representation space of (X, \mathcal{O}, II) , and the space $(X \times I, K'(\mathcal{O}), 2)$ the closed representation space of (X, \mathcal{O}, II) . We see that the closed representation space is the inversion of the open representation space. In fact, the function from $(X \times I, K(\mathcal{T}), 2)$ to $(X \times I, K'(\mathcal{T}), 2)$ defined by f((x,i)) = (x,1-i), is a homeomorphism.

Proposition 2.2.5. Let F be a fuzzy function from (X, \mathcal{O}_1, II) to (Y, \mathcal{O}_2, II) induced by the function f from X to Y. Then the following conditions are equivalent:

- (1) F is a fuzzy continuous function,
- (2) \tilde{f} is a continuous function from $(X \times I, K(\mathcal{O}_1), 2)$ to $(Y \times I, K(\mathcal{O}_2), 2)$,
- (3) \tilde{f} is a continuous function from $(X \times I, K (\mathcal{O}_1), 2)$ to $(Y \times I, K (\mathcal{O}_2), 2)$.

2.3. Neighborhood system of a II-fuzzy topological space

Definition 2.3.1. Let(X, \mathcal{J} , II) be a II-fuzzy topological space and i \in I. A II-fuzzy set U in X is an i-neighborhood of x in X if and only if there exists an open II-fuzzy set $\mathfrak{O} \in \mathcal{A}$ such that $U(y) \geq \mathfrak{O}(y)$ for every $y \in X$ and $O(x) \geq i^+$.

The concept of i-neighborhoods of x in (X, \mathcal{O} , II) is the inverse image by k of the concept of neighborhoods of (x,i) in $(X \times I, K(\mathcal{O}), 2)$.

Hence, this notion of i-neighborhoods is easier for us to understand than the notion of neighborhoods in Warren [39] [40], Lowen [30] or Ghanim [8].

Next results are clear too.

Theorem. 2.3.2. Let (X, \mathcal{O}, II) be a II-fuzzy topological space. If, for each $x \in X$ and $i \in I$, $\mathcal{U}_i(x)$ denotes the family of all i-neighborhoods of x, then the family { $\mathcal{U}_i(x) \mid x \in X$, $i \in I$ } has the following properties:

- (N1) $U(x) \ge i^{\dagger}$ for each $U \in \mathcal{U}_{i}(x);$
- (N2) if U_1 , $U_2 \in \mathcal{U}_1(\mathbf{x})$, then $U_1 \wedge U_2 \in \mathcal{U}_1(\mathbf{x})$;
- (N3) if $U \in \mathcal{U}_{i}(\mathbf{x})$ and $U \leq V$, then $V \in \mathcal{U}_{i}(\mathbf{x})$;
- (N4) for each $U \in \mathcal{U}_i(x)$ there exists $W \in \mathcal{U}_i(x)$ such that

 $U \in \mathcal{U}_{j}(y)$ for each y and j for which $W(y) \geq j^{+}$. Conversely, for any non empty set X, if the family $\{\mathcal{U}_{i}(x) \mid x \in X, i \in I\}$ is a family satisfying (N1)-(N4), then there exists a unique II-fuzzy topology \mathcal{O} on X such that, for each $x \in X$ and $i \in I$, $\mathcal{U}_{i}(x)$ coincides with the family of all ineighborhoods of x.

Proposition 2.3.3. Let F be a fuzzy function from (X, \mathcal{O}_1, II) to (Y, \mathcal{O}_2, II) induced by $f: X \longrightarrow Y$. Then, F is fuzzy continuous if and only if $f^{-1}(N)$ is an i-neighborhood of x for every i-neighborhood N of f(x) and each $x \in X$.

From the general topological point of view, I-fuzzy topological spaces do not have good properties. II-fuzzy topological spaces are better. As we can think of the family of I-fuzzy sets as the quotient sets of the family of II-fuzzy sets, we investigate II-fuzzy topological spaces instead of I-fuzzy topological spaces. And if we must consider L-fuzzy topology, we should construct a fuzzy set whose truth value set is a special lattice with desirable properties like II.

2.4. Slice topology and Product theorem

It may seem that II-fuzzy topological spaces are very similar to general topological spaces, for a II-fuzzy topological space has a representation space. However, they are quite different because the notion of involution in II-fuzzy sets, which would correspond to the notion of the complement in usual sets, is essentially different from it. It is clear that the notion of involution is the key to fuzzy set theory. There exists another difference between II-fuzzy topological spaces and general topological spaces, because of the definition of product spaces. In fact, this definition gives rise to difficult problems. Another product was defined in Hutton [19]. Butin II-fuzzy topological spaces, we can easily check Tychonoff theorem under Wong's definitions of product and compact.

Let $(X \times I, K(\mathcal{O}), 2)$ be the open representation space of (X, \mathcal{O}, II) . For each i $\in I$, we denote the set $\{(x,i) | x \in X\} \subset X \times I$ by X^{i} and $\{A \subset X^{i} | A = k(B) \cap X^{i}, B \in \mathcal{O}\}$ by \mathcal{O}^{i} . It is clear that $(X^{i}, \mathcal{O}^{i}, 2)$ is a topological space. The space $(X^{i}, \mathcal{O}^{i}, 2)$ will be called an i-slice space.

Proposition 2.4.1. The following three conditions are equivalent:

- (1) (X, *冗*, II) is fuzzy compact,
- (2) $(X \times I, K(07), 2)$ is compact,
- (3) $(x^1, \sigma^1, 2)$ is compact.

Proof. (1)==>(2). Let $O_{j} = \{G_{j} | j \in J\}$ be an open cover of $X \times I$. Then $X = k^{-1}(X \times I) = k^{-1}(\bigcup_{j \in J} \{G_{j} | j \in J\}) = \bigvee_{j \in J} \{k^{-1}(G_{j}) | j \in J\}$. Hence $\{k^{-1}(G_{j}) | j \in J\} \text{ is a fuzzy open cover of X. Since } (X, OZ, II) \text{ is}$ fuzzy compact, there exist finite $k^{-1}(G_{j_0}), \cdots, k^{-1}(G_{j_n}) \text{ s.t.}$ $X = k^{-1}(G_{j_0}) \vee \cdots \vee k^{-1}(G_{j_n}). \text{ Therefore we have}$ $X \times I = k(X) = k(k^{-1}(G_{j_0}) \vee \cdots \vee k^{-1}(G_{j_n}))$ $= k(k^{-1}(G_{j_0})) \vee \cdots \vee k(k^{-1}(G_{j_n}))$ $= G_{j_0} \vee \cdots \vee G_{j_n}.$

This shows that \mathcal{T} has finite subcover $\{G_j, \dots, G_j\}$.

(2)==>(1). Similar to (1)==>(2) but in the converse way. (2)<==>(3). Trivial.

Corollary 2.4.2. Let (X_j, \mathcal{N}_j, II) be a fuzzy compact space for each $j \in J$. Then the product space $\prod_{j \in J} (X_j, \mathcal{N}_j, II)$ is fuzzy compact.

Proof. (X_j, \mathcal{O}_j, II) is fuzzy compact for each $j \in J$ $\langle = > (X_j^1, \mathcal{O}_j^1, 2)$ is compact for each $j \in J$ $\langle = > \prod_{j \in J} (X_j^1, \mathcal{O}_j^1, 2)$ is compact $\langle = > \prod_{j \in J} (X_j, \mathcal{O}_j, II)$ is fuzzy compact

This was already proved by J.A.Goguen[10], but our proof using proposition 1 shown above is much easier.

Let F be a fuzzy function from II^X to II^Y induced by f:X \rightarrow Y. We can define natural function $f^i:X^i \longrightarrow Y^i$ by

$$f^{1}(x,i) = (f(x),i).$$

Then, next proposition is clear.

Proposition 2.4.3. If F be a fuzzy continuous function from (X, \mathcal{O}_1, II) to (Y, \mathcal{O}_2, II) , then f^{i} is a continuous function $(X^{i}, \mathcal{O}_1^{i}, 2)$ to $(X^{i}, \mathcal{O}_2^{i}, 2)$ for every $i \in I$.

But the converse of this proposition is not true.

Example. Let R be the set of all real numbers. For each $r,s \in R$ s.t. r<s, we define r^s and r^s functions from R to II by for $x \in R$

$$\mathbf{r}^{\mathbf{s}}(\mathbf{x}) = \begin{cases} 0^{-} & \mathbf{x} < \mathbf{r} \\ (\frac{\mathbf{x}-\mathbf{r}}{\mathbf{s}-\mathbf{r}})^{-} & \mathbf{r} \leq \mathbf{x} \leq \mathbf{s} \\ 1^{+} & \mathbf{x} > \mathbf{s} \end{cases}$$

$$\mathbf{r}_{\mathbf{s}}(\mathbf{x}) = \begin{cases} \mathbf{0}^{-} & \mathbf{x} > \mathbf{s} \\ (\frac{\mathbf{s}-\mathbf{x}}{\mathbf{s}-\mathbf{r}})^{-} & \mathbf{r} \leq \mathbf{x} \leq \mathbf{s} \\ \mathbf{1}^{+} & \mathbf{x} < \mathbf{r} \end{cases}$$

And we define the II-fuzzy topologies \mathcal{N}_1 and \mathcal{N}_2 generated by the subbase

$$\mathcal{Y}_1 = \{\mathbf{r}^{r+1}, \mathbf{r}^{-1}\mathbf{r} \mid \mathbf{r} \in \mathbb{R}\}$$
 and
 $\mathcal{Y}_2 = \{\mathbf{r}^{r+2}, \mathbf{r}^{-2}\mathbf{r} \mid \mathbf{r} \in \mathbb{R}\}$ respectively.

Suppose $f:\mathbb{R}\longrightarrow\mathbb{R}$ be identity function. Then, the fuzzy function F from (R, \mathcal{O}_2 ,II) to (R, \mathcal{O}_1 ,II) is not continuous. But, for each $i \in I$, the function f^i from (R, \mathcal{O}_2^i , 2) to (R, \mathcal{O}_1^i , 2) is continuous.

We can define the following cardinal functions, the network weight, the Lindelöf number and the cellularity, for every L-fuzzy space (X, 07, L). $nw((X,\mathcal{O},L)) = \min\{|\mathcal{G}|| \text{ For any U fuzzy open in } X, \text{ there}$ exists $\mathcal{L} \subset \mathcal{G} \text{ s.t. } \bigvee \mathcal{L} = U. \}$

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{L}((X,\mathcal{O},L)) &= \min\{ \ \mathcal{I} \ | \ \text{For any } \mathcal{I} \ \text{fuzzy open cover of } X \ \text{there} \\ &= \text{exist} \ \mathcal{I} \ \text{subcover of} \ \mathcal{O} \mathcal{I} \ \text{s.t.} \ | \ \mathcal{I} \ | \ \leq \ \mathcal{I} \ \} \\ &= \text{c}((X,\mathcal{O},L)) = \min\{ \ \mathcal{I} \ | \ \text{For every} \ \mathcal{O} \ \text{disjoint family of non-} \\ &= \text{empty fuzzy open sets of } X \ \text{s.t.} \ | \ \mathcal{O} \ | \ \leq \ \mathcal{I} \ \}. \end{split}$$

These functions nw, ℓ and c are generalized from those in the general topology.

Theorem 2.4.4. Let (X, \mathcal{O}, II) be a L-fuzzy topological space and $(X^{i}, \mathcal{O}_{i}^{i}, 2)$ its i-slice space. Then, $\pounds((X, \mathcal{O}, II)) = \pounds((X^{1}, \mathcal{O}_{i}^{1}, 2))$ and $c((X, \mathcal{O}, II)) = c((X^{0}, \mathcal{O}_{i}^{0}, 2)).$

Also, if $nw((X, \mathcal{O}, II)) > \mathcal{L}$, then there exists an $i_0 \in I$ s.t.

 $nw((X, O, II)) = nw((X^{i0}, O^{i0}, 2)).$

Proof. Let \mathcal{J} be a fuzzy open cover of X, \mathcal{J} a subcover of \mathcal{J} . Then $K(\mathcal{J})(=\{k(U) | U \in \mathcal{J}\})$ is an open cover of $X \times I$ and $K(\mathcal{J})(=\{k(U) | U \in \mathcal{J}\})$ is a subcover of $K(\mathcal{J})$. $\mathcal{J}^1(=\{k(U) \land X^1 | U \in \mathcal{J}\})$ is a nopen cover of X^1 , and $\mathcal{L}^1(=\{k(U) \land X^1 | U \in \mathcal{L}\})$ is a subcover of \mathcal{J}^1 . Conversely, if \mathcal{U} is an open cover of X^1 , there exists \mathcal{J} a fuzzy open cover of X s.t. $\mathcal{U} = \mathcal{J}^1$. Therefore $\mathcal{L}((X, \mathcal{U}, \Pi, II)) = \mathcal{L}((X^1, \mathcal{U}^1, 2))$. In a similar way we can prove that $c((X, \mathcal{U}, \Pi, II)) = c((X^1, \mathcal{U}^1, 2))$.

From the definition of nw, we can easily obtain that $nw((X, \mathcal{O}, II)) \ge nw((X^i, \mathcal{O}^i, 2))$ for every $i \in I$. For $U^i \subset X^i$, let $g(U^i) = \{(x,j) | (x,i) \in U^i \text{ and } j \le M(X) \subset P(X \times I), \text{ and } \mathcal{O}^i \text{ be}$ the family $\{k^{-1}(g(U^i)) | U^i \in \mathcal{O}^i \text{ for any } i \in I\}$. Then for every fuzzy open set U there is a subfamily \mathcal{L} of \mathcal{J} s.t. $\bigvee \mathcal{L} = U$. If, for every $i \in I$, $nw((X, \mathcal{O}, II)) > nw((X^i, \mathcal{O}_i^i, 2))$, we must have $nw((X, \mathcal{O}, II)) > |\mathcal{O}_i|$. It is a contradiction.

2.5. Relation between general topology and II-fuzzy topology

In relation to II-fuzzy topological spaces, we can consider various concepts that we consider in relation to I-fuzzy topological spaces. In most cases, they are easier to consider than those in I-fuzzy topological space. In this section, we consider the concept which corresponds to the functions \mathcal{L} and ω in R.Lowen [25].

Let (X, \mathcal{O}, II) be a II-fuzzy topological space, then we can consider \mathcal{O}_{i}^{i} (i \in I) introduced in section 2.4 as topologies on X. We define $\mathcal{I}(\mathcal{O})$ as the topology generated by $\bigcup_{i \in I} \mathcal{O}_{i}^{i}$.

Let $(X, \mathcal{O}, 2)$ be a general topological space, then for $U \in \mathcal{O},$ we define $U[i] \in II^{X}$ (i $\in I$) by

 $\mathbb{U}[\mathbf{i}](\mathbf{x}) = \begin{cases} \mathbf{i} + (\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{U}) \\ \mathbf{0}^{-} (\mathbf{x} \notin \mathbb{U}) \end{cases}$

We define $\omega(\sigma)$ as the II-fuzzy topology generated by $\{U[i] \in II^X | U \in \sigma$, $i \in I\}$.

We can easily check $\chi(\omega(\sigma_{\lambda})) = \sigma_{\lambda}$ for every topological space (X, σ_{λ} , 2). For a II-fuzzy topological space (X, σ_{λ} , II), we say that (X, σ_{λ} , II) is topologically generated when $\omega(\chi(\sigma_{\lambda})) = \sigma_{\lambda}$. For an order preserving function g from I to I, let G be the function from II to II, defined by $G(x^{+}) = (g(x))^{+}$ and $G(x^{-}) = (g(x))^{-}$.

We say that G is a sign and order preserving function.

Theorem 2.5.1. Let (X, \mathcal{O}, II) be a II-fuzzy topological space s.t. $i^+_X \in \mathcal{O}$ for every $i \in I$. The space (X, \mathcal{O}, II) is topologically generated if and only if, for each sign and order preserving function G:II—>II and $U \in \mathcal{O}$, $G \circ U \in \mathcal{O}$.

Proof. Let (X, \mathcal{O}, II) be topologically generated. Since $U \in \mathcal{O}I$ can be written as $U = \bigcup_{i \in I} (U^i[i])$, we have $G \circ U = \bigcup_{i \in I} (U^i[g(i)])$. From $U^i \in \mathcal{O}I^i \subset \iota(\mathcal{O}I)$ and $g(i) \in I$, we see that $U^i[g(i)] \in \mathcal{U}(\iota(\mathcal{O}I))$. Thus we have $G \circ U \in \mathcal{U}(\iota(\mathcal{O}I)) = \mathcal{O}I$. Conversely, let $G \circ U \in \mathcal{O}I$ for each sign and order preserving G and $U \in \mathcal{O}I$. For every $V \in \mathcal{O}I^i$, there exists a $U \in \mathcal{O}I$ s.t. $U^i = V$. Let G be the sign and order preserving map s.t. $G(i^+) = j^+$. From $G \circ U \in \mathcal{O}I$, we see that $(F \circ U)^j \in \mathcal{O}I^j$. Hence $(F \circ U)^j = U^i \in \mathcal{O}I^j$, and therefore we have $V \in \mathcal{O}I^j$. This indicates that $\mathcal{O}I^i = \mathcal{O}I^j$ for every $i, j \in I$. Consequently the space $(X, \mathcal{O}I, II)$ is topologically generated.

Since every continuous function from I_r to I_r in R.Lowen[25] is an order preserving function from I to I, this theorem correspond to theorem 2.2.2. in R.Lowen[25].

2.6. II-fuzzy linear topological spaces

In this section, we use II-fuzzy topologies which contain all the constant fuzzy sets. (Lowen adopt only this type as fuzzy topology set in [25].) One of the reasons for doing this is to make sure that the topology of such a space is translation invariant. This assumption is not necessary but sufficient. So, we don't adopt Lowen's definition of fuzzy topology in section 1.

Let E be a vector space over K, where K is the field of either the real numbers R or the complex numbers C.

Let $f : E \times E \rightarrow E$ $(x,y) \mapsto x+y$, $g : K \times E \rightarrow E$ $(k,x) \mapsto kx$.

be the vector addition and the scalar multiplication in E.

If α is a II-fuzzy set in K and A, B are II-fuzzy sets in E, then we denote F(A × B) (F is the fuzzy function induced by f) by A+B and G(α xA) (G is the fuzzy function induced by g) by α A. Then we have,

(1)
$$(A + B) + C = A + (B + C);$$

(2) $(\{t\}A)(x) = A(x/t)$ $(t \neq 0);$
(3) $(\{0\}A)(x) = \begin{cases} 0^{-} & (x \neq 0) \\ \bigvee A(y) & (x = 0) \end{cases}$

From now on, we denote $\{t\}A$ by tA, $A+\{x\}$ by A+x. And for brevity, we use f (instead of F) for function induced by f.

Let E and F be vector spaces over K. And let f be a linear map from E to F, we have,

(4)
$$f(sA + tB) = sf(A) + tf(B)$$
,
specially, $t(A + B) = tA + tB$;
(5) $f^{-1}(tB) = tf^{-1}(B)$ ($t \neq 0$);

(6)
$$A + \cdots + A \leq B$$
 $A \leq \frac{1}{n} B$.

A II-fuzzy set A in E over K is called balanced if $tA \leq A$ for each scalar t with $|t| \leq 1$. A is balanced if and only if $A(tx) \geq A(x)$ for each t with $|t| \leq 1$. Hence, $A(0) \geq A(x)$. A II-fuzzy set A in E over K is call r-absorbing if $\bigvee_{kA \geq r} kA \geq r^+$.

Definition 2.6.1. A II-fuzzy linear topology on a vector space E over K is a II-fuzzy topology (containing all the constant fuzzy sets) such that the two mappings

+ : $E \times E \longrightarrow E$ (x,y) $\longrightarrow x+y$

 $: K \times E \longrightarrow E \quad (t, x) \longmapsto tx$

are fuzzy continuous when K is equipped with minimum II-fuzzy topology which includes the usual topology and all the constant fuzzy sets, and K×E, E×E have the corresponding product fuzzy topologies. We denote the the family of all i-neighborhoods of $t \in K$ by $\mathcal{V}_i(t)$.

A linear space with a II-fuzzy linear topology is called a IIfuzzy linear space or a II-fuzzy topological vector space.

Let E be a II-fuzzy topological vector space. Then the maps

 $f : E \longrightarrow E \quad f(x) = t_0 x \quad (t_0 \in K, t_0 \neq 0)$

 $g : E \longrightarrow E \quad g(x) = x + x_0 \quad (x_0 \in E)$

are topological homeomorphism.

Furthermore the sum of open fuzzy set and any fuzzy set is again an open fuzzy set. (See Katsaras [22].)

Example 2.6.2. Let $(R, \mathcal{O}, 2)$ be a usual topological spaces. We define the II-fuzzy topological spaces $(R, \mathcal{O}_{\#}, II)$, where $\mathcal{O}_{\#}$

Proposition 2.6.3. Let A be an i-neighborhood of $z_0 = x_0 + y_0$, i.e. $A \in \mathcal{U}_1(z_0)$ and $z_0 = x_0 + y_0$, in a II-fuzzy topological vector space E. Then, there exist $A_1 \in \mathcal{U}_1(x_0)$ and $A_2 \in \mathcal{U}_1(y_0)$ such that $A_1 + A_2 \leq A$. In case $x_0 = y_0 = 0$, there exists $B \in \mathcal{U}_1(0)$ such that $B + B \leq A$.

Proof. Since the map $+ : E \times E \longrightarrow E$, $(x,y) \mapsto x+y$ is continuous, the proof is obvious.

Proposition 2.6.4. In a II-fuzzy topological vector space E, if $A \in \mathcal{U}_i(0)$, then there exists $B \in \mathcal{U}_i(0)$ such that B is balanced and $B \leq A$.

Proof. Without loss of generality, we may assume that A is open. The map g : $K \times E \longrightarrow E$, g(t,x) = tx is continuous. Since $g^{-1}(A)(0,0) = A(0) \ge i^+$, there exist $\alpha \in \mathcal{V}_i(0)$ and $D \in \mathcal{U}_i(0)$ such that $\alpha \times D \le g^{-1}(A)$. From the definition of fuzzy topology on K, there exists $\delta > 0$ such that $\{t \in K \mid |t| \le \delta\} \subset \{t \in K \mid \alpha(t) \ge i^+\}$. Now, let $C = A \wedge D \wedge i^+ \in \mathcal{U}_i(0)$. If $|t| \le \delta$ then

 $A(tx) = g^{-1}(A)(t,x) \ge (\alpha \times D)(t,x) \ge (\alpha \times C)(t,x) = \alpha'(t) \wedge C(x) = C(x).$

Then we take $B = \delta C$.

Proposition 2.6.5. Let A be an i-neighborhood of O in a IIfuzzy topological vector space E. Then, for every $x_0 \in E$, there exists $t_0 \in K$ such that $t_0 A(x_0) \ge i^+$.

Proof. Let $f : K \times E \longrightarrow E$, f(t,x) = tx. Since f is continuous and $f(0,x_0) = 0$, $f^{-1}(A)$ is an i-neighborhood of $(0,x_0)$. $f^{-1}(A)(0,x_0) \ge i^+$. Hence there exist $\alpha \in \mathcal{V}_i(0)$ and $B \in \mathcal{U}_i(x_0)$ such that $\alpha \times B \le f^{-1}(A)$.

From the definition of fuzzy topology on K, there exists $\delta > 0$ such that $\beta \leq \alpha$, where,

$$\beta(t) = \begin{cases} i^+ (|t| < \delta) \\ 0^- (|t| \ge \delta). \end{cases}$$

Clearly, $\beta \times B \leq f^{-1}(A)$. If $|t| < \delta$, $A(tx_0) = f^{-1}(A)(tx_0) \geq \beta(t) \wedge A(x_0) \geq i^+$. Therefore, $t_0 A(x_0) \geq i^+$ for t_0 with $0 < |1/t_0| < \delta$.

C. Omoto proved the following

Theorem 2.6.6. Let E be a II-fuzzy topological vector space over K, and $\mathcal{U}_i(0)$ be the family of all i-neighborhoods of 0 for $i \in [0,1]$. Then $\mathcal{U}_i(0)$ has the following properties:

(1) every constant fuzzy set j_X with $j \ge i^+$ belongs to $\mathcal{U}_i(0)$. And $A(0) \ge i^+$ for each $A \in \mathcal{U}_i(0)$;

(2) if A_1 , $A_2 \in \mathcal{U}_i(0)$, then $A_1 \wedge A_2 \in \mathcal{U}_i(0)$;

- (3) for each $A \in \mathcal{U}_{i}(0)$, there exists $B \in \mathcal{U}_{i}(0)$ which is balanced with $B \leq A$;
- (4) for each $A \in \mathcal{U}_{i}(0)$, there exists $B \in \mathcal{U}_{i}(0)$ such that B + B

≦ A;

- (5) let $A \in II^{E}$, if there exists $B \in \mathcal{U}_{i}(0)$ with $B \leq A$, then $A \in \mathcal{U}_{i}(0)$;
- (6) let $A \in \mathcal{U}_i(0)$ and $x_0 \in E$, then there exists a positive number δ such that $A(tx_0) \geq i^+$ for all $|t| < \delta$.

Conversely, if $\{\mathcal{U}_i(0)\}_{i\in[0,1]}$ is a family of families of IIfuzzy sets in a vector space E over K satisfying (1)-(6), then there exists a unique II-fuzzy linear topology \mathcal{O} on E.

Proof. It is clear that $\mathcal{U}_{i}(0)$ has the property (1)-(6). Conversely let { $\mathcal{U}_{i}(0)$ }_{i\in[0,1]} be a family satisfying (1)-(6). For $A \in \mathcal{U}_{i}(0)$, from (3) and (4), there exist sequence (A_{n}) such that $A_{n} \in \mathcal{U}_{i}(0)$, A_{n} is balanced, $A_{1} = A$ and $A_{n+1}+A_{n+1} \leq A_{n}$. Since A_{n} is balanced, $A_{n}(0) \geq A_{n+1}(0) \geq i^{+}$, $A(0) \geq A_{1}(0)$. Let B be $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} A_{n}$, where $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} A_{n} = \bigvee_{n=1}^{\infty} \sum_{k=1}^{n} A_{k}$. Then, $B \in \mathcal{U}_{i}(0)$.

We need to show that, if $B(x_0) \ge j^+$ then $B-x_0 \in \mathcal{U}_j(0)$. Since $j^+ \ne \bigvee \{q | q < j^+\}$, there exist A_n and $n_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $(\sum_{n=1}^{n_0} A_n)(x_0) \ge j^+$, $(\sum_{n=1}^{n_0} A_n)(0) \ge i^+$. Now,

$$B \geq A_1 + A_2 + \cdots + A_n + A_{n+1}$$

Hence,

$$B(\mathbf{x}) \geq (A_{1} + A_{2} + \cdots + A_{n} + A_{n+1})(\mathbf{x})$$

= $\bigvee_{\mathbf{x}=\mathbf{y}+\mathbf{z}} [(A_{1} + A_{2} + \cdots + A_{n})(\mathbf{y}) \wedge A_{n+1}(\mathbf{z})]$
 $\geq (A_{1} + A_{2} + \cdots + A_{n})(\mathbf{x}_{0}) \wedge A_{n+1}(\mathbf{x}-\mathbf{x}_{0})$
 $\geq (\mathbf{j}^{+} \wedge A_{n+1})(\mathbf{x}-\mathbf{x}_{0}).$

So, $j^{\dagger} \wedge A_{n+1} \leq B-x_0$. From $j^{\dagger} \wedge A_{n+1} \in \mathcal{U}_j(0)$ and (5), $B-x_0 \in \mathcal{U}_j(0)$. For each $x \in E$, let $\mathcal{U}_i(x) = \{x+A \mid A \in \mathcal{U}_i(0)\}$. It is easy to see that the family { $\mathcal{U}_{i}(\mathbf{x}) | i \in I$, $\mathbf{x} \in E$ } has the properties (N1)-(N4) of theorem 2.3.2. Therefore, there exists a unique fuzzy topology \mathcal{O} on E. It is easy to see that \mathcal{O} is translation invariant.

It remains to prove that the mappings + and . are continuous.

Continuity of sum:

Let the map $f : E \times E \longrightarrow E$, f(x,y) = x+y. If $D \in \mathcal{U}_1(x_0+y_0)$, then there exists $A \in \mathcal{U}_1(0)$ such that $D = x_0 + y_0 + A$. From (4), there exists $B \in \mathcal{U}_1(0)$ such that $B + B \leq A$. So, $(x_0+B) \times (y_0+B) \leq f^{-1}(x_0+y_0+A)$. Hence f is continuous.

Continuity of scalar multiplication: We must show that, if $A \in \mathcal{U}_1(0)$ then $tA \in \mathcal{U}_1(0)$ (t≠0). Let A be balanced. When $|t| \ge 1$, the result is clear. Let |t| < 1. For n such that $2^{-n} < |t|$, there exists $B \in \mathcal{U}_1(0)$ such that $B + B + \cdots + B \le A$.

Hence $B \leq 2^{-n}A$. So $tA = 2^{n}t2^{-n}A \geq 2^{n}tB \geq B$. Therefore $tA \in \mathcal{U}_{1}(0)$. Let the map $g : K \times E \longrightarrow E$, g(tx) = tx. And let $(t_{0}, x_{0}) \in K \times E$, <u>A</u> $= t_{0}x_{0}+A$, $A \in \mathcal{U}_{1}(0)$. From (3) and (4), there exists a balanced set $B \in \mathcal{U}_{1}(0)$ such that $B + B + B + B \leq A$. Since B is balanced, B $\leq B + B$. Hence $B + B + B \leq A$. From (6), there exists $\delta \in (0,1]$ such that $B(tx_{0}) \geq i^{+}$ for $|t| \leq \delta$. Let $C = \begin{cases} (1/t_{0})B \wedge B \\ B \end{cases}$ $(t_{0} \neq 0) \\ B \end{cases}$ $(t_{0} \neq 0)$

$$\alpha(t) = \begin{cases} i^{+} & (|t| < \delta) \\ i^{-} & (|t| \ge \delta). \end{cases}$$

Then C is balanced, $C \in \mathcal{U}_i(0)$ and $\alpha \in \mathcal{V}_i(0)$. If $D = (t_0 + \alpha) \times (x_0 + C)$, then $D \in \mathcal{U}_i(t_0, x_0)$. We need to show that
$$\begin{split} & ((t-t_0) \land C(x-x_0) \leq \underline{A}(tx) = A(tx-t_0x_0) \\ & \text{When } |t-t_0| \geq \delta, \text{ it is obvious from } \mathcal{O}(t-t_0) = 0. \text{ Let } |t-t_0| < \delta. \\ & \text{We have } tx-t_0x_0 = t_0(x-x_0) + (t-t_0)x_0 + (t-t_0)(x-x_0). \\ & \text{Then, } B(t_0(x-x_0)) = \begin{cases} (B/t_0)(x-x_0) \geq C(x-x_0) & (t_0 \neq 0) \\ B(0) \geq C(x-x_0) & (t_0 = 0). \end{cases} \\ & \text{Hence, } B(t_0(x-x_0)) \geq C(x-x_0) \geq D(t,x). \\ & \text{Similarly, from } |t-t_0| \leq \delta, \\ B((t-t_0)x_0) \geq i^+ \geq (t-t_0) \geq D(t,x). \\ & \text{Since B is balanced,} \\ & B((t-t_0)(x-x_0)) \geq B(x-x_0) \\ & \geq C(x-x_0) \\ & \geq D(t,x). \\ & \text{Hence, } A(tx-t_0x_0) = A(t_0(x-x_0) + (t-t_0)x_0 + (t-t_0)(x-x_0)) \\ & \geq B(t_0(x-x_0)) \land B((t-t_0)x_0) \land B((t-t_0)(x-x_0)) \\ & \geq D(t,x). \\ \end{array}$$

Therefore g is continuous.

Definition 2.6.7. A sequence of fuzzy sets $\mathcal{V} = (\mathbf{U}_n)$ is called a fuzzy string (abbreviate string), if

(0)
$$\mathbb{U}_{n}(0) \in \mathbb{I}^{+}$$
 and $\mathbb{U}_{n}(0) = \mathbb{U}_{n+1}(0)$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$,

- (1) every $U_n \in \mathcal{V}$ is balanced,
- (2) every ${\rm U}_{\rm n}$ is weak absorbing, that means ${\rm U}_{\rm n}$ is ${\rm U}_{\rm n}(0)-$ absorbing,

(3) (U_n) is summative, that means $U_{n+1} + U_{n+1} \leq U_n$ for all $n \in N$.

 U_n is called the n-th knot.

If
$$\mathcal{V} = (\mathbf{U}_n)$$
 and $\mathcal{V} = (\mathbf{V}_n)$ are strings in E and $\mathbf{t} \in \mathbf{K}$, we define
 $\mathbf{t} \mathcal{V} = (\mathbf{t}\mathbf{U}_n)$,
 $\mathcal{V} + \mathcal{V} = (\mathbf{U}_n + \mathbf{V}_n)$,

 $\mathcal{V} \wedge \mathcal{V} = (\mathbf{U}_n \wedge \mathbf{V}_n).$

 $\mathcal{U} + \mathcal{V}$ is called the sum and $\mathcal{U} \wedge \mathcal{V}$ the intersection of the strings \mathcal{U} and \mathcal{V} . Of course $\mathcal{U} + \mathcal{V}$, $\mathcal{U} \wedge \mathcal{V}$ and t \mathcal{U} (t \neq 0) are again strings in E.

Corollary 2.6.8. Let \mathcal{F} be a set of strings in a vector space E, then finite intersections of the knots of the strings in generate a unique fuzzy linear topology.

3. IQ (M>-FUZZY SET AND PARTICLE.

3.1. IQ_{<m>}-fuzzy set

When we apply the fuzzy theory to various fields, we often adopt the unit interval I (that is, [0,1]) as the truth value set of the fuzzy sets (see [44], [33] and [3]). Why do we adopt the set I as the truth value set? The reason may simply be that I is a totally ordered continuum in which operations like algebraic operations such as addition and multiplication are built-in. It is natural to define "all" by 1 and "nothing" by 0, and anything in between by a number between 0 and 1. However, for constructing a mathematical system where we can formulate our problems in a better way, we may have to consider more suitable truth value sets. For example, as is shown in [12], [19], [27] and [7], it is not easy to introduce the concept of compactness using I-fuzzy sets in general topology. On the other hand, the notion of Lfuzzy sets defined in [10], where L is a general completely distributive lattice with involution, is too abstract and general for some applications. Our aim is to construct fuzzy sets that are at the same time suitable for various applications and mathematically easy to deal with.

Since the unit interval I plays an important role in fuzzy sets, it is desirable that a truth value set L has the following two properties:

- (1) L includes I as a sublattice;
- (2) there is a suitable equivalence relation R such that the quotient lattice L/R is lattice isomorphic to I.

The two arrow set II introduced in chapter 2 is an example of the set satisfying the above conditions.

Let X be an ordinary set, and P(X) the ordinary power set. For A, $B \in P(X)$, we denote the symmetric difference $(A \cap B^{C}) \cup (A^{C} \cap B)$ by $A \triangle B$. Then, P(X) is an Abelian group relative to \triangle . That is ;

(0) if A, $B \in P(X)$, then A $\triangle B \in P(X)$, (1) (A $\triangle B$) $\triangle C = A \triangle (B \triangle C)$, (2) A $\triangle \emptyset = \emptyset \triangle A = A$ (\emptyset is the unity element), (3) A $\triangle A = \emptyset$ (A is the inverse element of itself), (4) A $\triangle B = B \triangle A$.

A natural question arises. Can we extend this operation to the family of fuzzy sets? In the family of I-fuzzy sets, if we define $A \Delta B \equiv (A \wedge B') \vee (A' \wedge B)$, then I^X does not form a group relative to Δ . Even if we define $(A \oplus B)(x) \equiv |A(x) - B(x)|$, I^X is not a group under \oplus . It is difficult to find a simple operation which is an extension of the symmetric difference in the family of I-fuzzy sets, by which the family becomes an Abelian group. The above mentioned difficulties also occur in II-fuzzy sets. Hence, it is natural to look for truth value set L lying between I and II such that L^X forms an Abelian group under a simple operation. Indeed we show that there exists a family of truth value sets L with :

- (1) II>L>I as sublattice;
- (2) there are suitable easy equivalence relations R_1 and R_2 such that II/R_1 is lattice isomorphic to L and L/R_2 is lattice isomorphic to I;

(3) L^X form an Abelian group under a simple operation.

For a fixed natural number m, let $Q_{\langle m \rangle}$ be the set $\lfloor k/m^n \in I \mid n \in N, k \in N$ such that $0 < k < m^n \rbrace$. We denote $\{x^+ \in I^+ \mid x \in Q_{\langle m \rangle}\}$ by $Q_{\langle m \rangle}^+$ and $\{x^- \in I^- \mid x \in Q_{\langle m \rangle}\}$ by $Q_{\langle m \rangle}^-$. Then, the set $I^- \cup Q_{\langle m \rangle}^+$ by $IQ_{\langle m \rangle}$. The following results are immediate.

Proposition. 3.1.1. $IQ_{(m)}$ is a sublattice of II. **Proposition. 3.1.2.** I is a sublattice of $IQ_{(m)}$. **Proof.** Regard I⁻ as I.

Proposition. 3.1.3. Let R_1 be the equivalence relation in II such that $x \sim x^+$ for every $x \in I-Q_{(m)}$. Then, II/R_1 is isomorphic to $IQ_{(m)}$.

Proposition. 3.1.4. Let R_2 be the equivalence relation in IQ_{m} such that $x \sim x^+$ for every $x \in Q_{m}$. Then, IQ_{m}/R_2 is isomorphic to I.

We define the operation ' from $IQ_{\langle m \rangle}$ to $IQ_{\langle m \rangle}$ by : $(x^+)' = (1-x)^- \in Q^-_{\langle m \rangle}$ for $x^+ \in Q^+_{\langle m \rangle}$. $(x^-)' = (1-x)^+ \in Q^+_{\langle m \rangle}$ for $x^- \in Q^-_{\langle m \rangle}$. $(x^-)' = (1-x)^- \in I^- Q^-_{\langle m \rangle}$ for $x^- \in I^- Q^-_{\langle m \rangle}$.

Since the operation \checkmark has the involution property, the set $IQ_{\langle m \rangle}$ is a completely distributive lattice with involution.

Remark Let f be the canonical injection from I to $IQ_{(m)}$, and g be the canonical projection from $IQ_{(m)}$ to $IQ_{(m)}/R_2$. Then, $f(a') \neq [f(a)]'$ for a \in I. But g(b') = [g(b)]' for $b \in IQ_{(m)}$ and g(f(a')) = g([f(a)]') = [g(f(a))]' for a \in I. Let h be the

canonical injection from $IQ_{\langle m \rangle}$ to II, and k be the canonical projection from II to II/R_1 . Then, $h(a') \neq [h(a)]'$ for $a \in IQ_{\langle m \rangle}$. But k(b') = [k(b)]' for $b \in II$ and k(h(a')) = k([h(a)]') = [k(h(a))]' for $a \in IQ_{\langle m \rangle}$. Hence, the involution in $IQ_{\langle m \rangle}$ stated above is natural.

Let Z_m^N be the set of infinite sequences $a = (a_n)$, where $a_n \in \{0, 1, \dots m-1\}$, $n \in \mathbb{N}$. The order in Z_m^N is defined lexicographically. Thus for any two elements $a, b \in Z_m^N$, a > b if there exists n such that $a_1=b_1$, $a_2=b_2$, ..., $a_n=b_n$ but $a_{n+1}>b_{n+1}$.

Theorem. 3.1.5. Z_m^N is lattice isomorphic to $IQ_{\langle m \rangle}$. Proof. Define the function from Z_m^N to $IQ_{\langle m \rangle}$ by, $f((a_n)) = \begin{cases} (a_0/m + a_1/m^2 + \ldots + a_n/m^n)^+ \in Q_{\langle m \rangle}^+ \\ for a=(a_n) \quad Z_m^N \text{ with finitely many nonzero } a_n^s, \\ (a_0/m + a_1/m^2 + \ldots + a_n/m^n + \ldots)^- \in I^- \\ otherwise. \end{cases}$

Then, f is a isomorphism from Z_m^N to $IQ_{\langle m \rangle}$.

Therefore, $IQ_{\langle m \rangle}$ inherit algebraic properties from Z_m^N . Z_m forms an Abelian group under usual addition $\bar{+}$ modulo m. This induce an operation \pm in Z_m^N defined by $(a_n) \pm (b_n) = (a_n \bar{+} b_n)$. It is easily seen that (Z_m^N, \pm) forms an Abelian group. Hence by the isomorphism given in Theorem 1, $IQ_{\langle m \rangle}$ forms an Abelian group under the induced operation : $(A \oplus B)(x) = A(x) \pm B(x)$. Hence we have,

Theorem 3.1.6. There exists an operation on the family of $IQ_{\langle 2 \rangle}$ -fuzzy sets, which is an extension of symmetric difference, by which the family forms an Abelian group.

3.2. Particle

The concept of fuzzy points was defined in [43]. However, it causes some problems (see [13]). We introduce another new approach to the concept of points. In our real world (in physics), "point" is an imaginary concept to indicate a position. It does not exist in material world. On the other hand, we found out (or thought out) "atoms" and "elementary particles" as constituent elements of matter. We introduce the concept of "particles" in fuzzy spaces in the same manner. This is not the extension of the concept of the usual "point" but the extension of the concept of the usual "ne-point-set" as a minimal set. The concept of "one-point-set" in usual space has at least two properties. One is "any set can be represented as the union of one-point-sets". The other is "every one-point-set cannot be represented as the union of other one-point-sets". We construct "particles" with these properties.

Let S be a non-empty subfamily of L^X , R a subfamily of S. We say that R (subset of S) is a particle family of S (in L^X) if the following two conditions are satisfied:

- (P1) for any seS, there exists a subfamily R_0 of R s.t. s= $\bigvee R_0$ (that is R is a base of S),
- (P2) if $r \in \mathbb{R}$, then $r \neq \bigvee S_0$ for any subfamily S_0 of $S \{r\}$.

The condition (P1) means "any set can be represented as the union of one-point-sets". The condition (P2) means "every onepoint-set cannot be represented as the union of other one-pointsets". We call an element of R a particle of S. When $R_0 = \emptyset$, we have $\bigvee R_0 = O_X$, and from the condition (P2) we see that $O_X \notin R$.

We can define the co-particle as the dual concept of the particle. We say that R is a co-particle family of S (in L^X) if the following two conditions are satisfied:

(CP1) for any seS, there exists a subfamily R_0 of R s.t. s= $\bigwedge R_0$

(CP2) if r∈R, then $r \neq \bigwedge S_0$ for any subfamily S_0 of S-{r}.

We call an element of R a co-particle of S. If R is particle of S, then $\{r' | r \in R\}$ is a co-particle of $\{s' | s \in S\}$.

Proposition 3.2.1. If there exists a particle family of S, it is unique.

Proof. Let R and Q are particle families of S. Suppose there exists $A \in Q$ s.t. $A \notin R$. Then from the property (P1) in R, the A is written in the form $A = \bigvee R_0$ where R_0 is subfamily of R. But this contradicts the property (P2) of Q. So every element of Q is in R. We can prove that every element of R is in Q in the same way.

Proposition 3.2.2. If there exists a co-particle family of S, it is unique.

The proof is similar to that of the proposition 3.2.1.

In the sequel, we write the particle family of S by S^p , the co-particle family of S by S_p .

Example 1. Let L = 2. The particle family $(2^X)^p$ is the family of the all one-point-sets of X (i.e. $\{ \{x\} | x \in X \}$), and the co-particle family $(2^X)_p$ is the family $\{X-\{x\} | x \in X\}$.

Example 2. Let L=II. Let p_y be a II-fuzzy set defined by $p_y(x) = \begin{cases} p^+ & x=y \\ 0^- & x \neq y. \end{cases}$

The particle family $(II^{X})^{p}$ is $\{p_{y} | 0 \leq p \leq 1, y \in X\}$, and the coparticle family $(II^{X})_{p}$ is $\{(p_{y})^{\prime} | 0 \leq p \leq 1, y \in X\}$. Similarly, the particle family $(IQ_{\langle m \rangle}^{X})^{p}$ is $\{p_{y} | p \in Q_{\langle m \rangle}, y \in X\}$, and the coparticle family $(IQ_{\langle m \rangle}^{X})_{p}$ is $\{(p_{y})^{\prime} | p \in Q_{\langle m \rangle}, y \in X\}$.

It is not always true that the particle family and the coparticle family of \textbf{L}^{X} exist.

Example 3. When L = I, the particle family and the coparticle family of L^{X} do not exist.

Example 4. When X = L = I, let C_y be a I-fuzzy set defined by $C_y(x) = \begin{cases} y & x < y \\ 1 & x \ge y, \end{cases}$

and D be the set $\{C_y | y \in I\}$. Then D^p is $D-\{1_x\}$.

Next, we describe how to construct a particle. Let S be a non-empty subfamily of L^{X} . We define $S^{\#} = \{A \in S | A > \bigwedge \{B \in S | B < A\}\}$ and $S_{\#} = \{A \in S | A < \bigvee \{B \in S | B > A\}\}$.

Proposition 3.2.3. If there exists the particle family of S, then $S^{p} = S^{\#}$.

Proof. Suppose $A \in S^p$, then can not be written as a union of subfamily of S-{A}, by the condition (P2). Hence $A > \bigvee \{B \in S \mid B \leq A\}$,

and so $A \in S^{\#}$. Conversely, suppose that there exists an $A \in S^{\#}$ s.t. $A \notin S^{P}$. By the condition (P1), there exist a subset $\{B_{j}\}$ of S^{P} s.t. $A = \bigvee_{j \in J} B_{j}$. Then $B_{j} \wedge A < A$ and $\bigvee_{j \in J} (B_{j} \wedge A) = (\bigvee_{j \in J} B_{j}) \wedge A = A$. That is, $\bigvee \{(B_{j} \wedge A) \in S \mid (B_{j} \wedge A) < A\} = A$. It is a contradiction.

Proposition 3.2.4. If there exists the co-particle family of S, then $S_p = S_{\frac{H}{\pi}}$.

The proof is similar to that of the proposition 4.1.

Corollary 3.2.5. If there exists the particle family of L^{X} , then $(L^{X})^{p} = (L^{X})^{\#}$, and if there exists the co-particle family of L^{X} , then $(L^{X})_{p} = (L^{X})_{\#}^{\#}$.

For an L-fuzzy topological space (X, \mathcal{O} , L), let K_0 be the set $\{A \in L_X \mid A = \bigvee_{i \in Ij \in J} B_{ij} \text{ where } B_{ij} \in \mathcal{O}$ or $(B_{ij}) \in \mathcal{O}$, K_{0} be the set $\{A \in L_X \mid A = \bigwedge_{j \in J} B_j \text{ where } B_j \in \mathcal{O}$ or $(B_j) \in \mathcal{O}$, K_1 be the set $\{A \in L_X \mid A = \bigvee_{i \in Ij \in J} B_{ij} \text{ where } B_{ij} \in \mathcal{O}$, and K_1 be the set $\{A \in L_X \mid A = \bigvee_{i \in Ij \in J} B_i \text{ where } B_{ij} \in \mathcal{O}$, and K_1 be the

Proposition 3.2.6. (X, \mathcal{T}, L) is T_0 if and only if $L^X = K_0$. (X, \mathcal{T}, L) is T_1 if and only if $L^X = K_1$. (The definitions of T_0 and T_1 are given in section 0.4.)

Proof. It is obvious.

Proposition 3.2.7. $(K_0)^{\#} = (K*_0)^{\#}$ and $(K_1)^{\#} = (K*_1)^{\#}$.

Proof. Suppose that there exists an $A \in (K_0)^{\#}$ s.t. $A \notin (K*_0)^{\#}$. From $A \in K_0$, there exist $B_{ij} \in O \cup O$ s.t. $A = \bigvee_{i \in I j \in J} B_{ij}$. Since Proposition 3.2.8. If (X, O7, L) is T_0 , then $(L^X)^{\#} = (K_0^*)^{\#}$. If (X, O7, L) is T_1 , then $(L^X)^{\#} = (K_1^*)^{\#}$.

proof. It follows from Proposition 3.2.6 and Proposition
3.2.7.

Theorem 3.2.9. Suppose $(X, \mathcal{O}l, L)$ is an L-fuzzy topological space, and there exists the particle family of L^X . Then $(X, \mathcal{O}l, L)$ is T_0 if and only if $(L^X)^p = (K*_0)^{\#}$. Also $(X, \mathcal{O}l, L)$ is T_1 if and only if $(L^X)^p = (K*_1)^{\#}$.

Proof. By Corollary 3.2.4 and Proposition 3.2.8.

This theorem indicate particles of spaces which are T_0 space can be constructed by open and closed sets, particles of spaces which are T_1 space can be constructed by open and sets.

Let L^X be the family of L-fuzzy sets of X, L^Y be the family of L-fuzzy sets of Y. Suppose there exists the particle families of L^X and L^Y . $(L^X)^p$ and $(L^Y)^p$ are ordered sets.

Proposition 3.2.10. If f is a order preserving function from $(L^X)^p$ to $(L^Y)^p$, then we can define a fuzz relation F from L^X to L^Y by:

$$\mathbf{F}(\mathbf{A}) = \bigvee_{\mathbf{j} \in \mathbf{J}} \mathbf{f}(\mathbf{A}_{\mathbf{j}})$$

for any $A \in L^{X}$, where $A = \bigvee_{j \in J} A_{j}$, $A_{j} \in (L^{X})^{p}$.

Proof. If $\bigvee_{i \in I} A_i = \bigvee_{j \in J} B_j$, A_i , $B_j \in (L^X)^p$, there exists a j_i such that $A_i \leq B_{j_i}$, since A_i is a particle for each $i \in I$, Hence $f(A_i) \leq F(\bigvee_{j \in J} B_j)$. And so $F(\bigvee_{i \in I} A_i) \leq F(\bigvee_{j \in J} B_j)$. Therefore $F(\bigvee_{i \in I} A_i) = F(\bigvee_{j \in J} B_j)$.

References

- [1] G. Birkhoff, "Lattice Theory", A.M.S. Colloquium Publications Vol. XXV, 1967.
- [2] C.L. Chang, Fuzzy topological space, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 24 (1968) 182-190.
- [3] D. Dubois and H. Prade, Fuzzy Sets and Systems: Theory and Applications, (Academic Press, New York, 1980).
- [4] D. Dubois and H. Prade, "Criteria aggregation and ranking of alternatives in the framework of fuzzy set theory", TIMS/Studies in the Management Sciences 20 (1984) 209-240.
- [5] M.A. Erceg, Functions, equivalence relations, quotient space and subsets in fuzzy set theory, Fuzzy sets and systems 3 (1980) 75-92.
- [6] L.W. Fung and K.S. Fu "An Axiomatic Approach to Rational Decision-Making in a Fuzzy Environment", L.A.Zadeh, K.S.Fu, K.Tanaka and M.Shimura, eds., Fuzzy Sets and Their Applications to Cognitive and Decision Processes (Academic Press 1975) 227-256.
- [7] T.E. Gantener, R.C. Steinlage and R.H. Warren, Compactness in Fuzzy Topological Spaces, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 62 (1978) 547-562.
- [8] M.H. Ghanim and A.S. Mashhour, Characterization of fuzzy topologies by s-neighborhood systems, Fuzzy Sets and Systems 9 (1983) 211-213.
- [9] R. Giles, Lukasiewicz logic and fuzzy theory, Int.J.Man-Mach. Slud. 8(1976) 313-327.
- [10] J.A. Goguen, L-fuzzy sets, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 18 (1967) 145-174.
- [11] J.A. Goguen, "Categories of Fuzzy Set: Applications of Non-Cantorian Set Theory", Ph.D. Thesis, University of Cal. at Berkeley, Dept. of Math, 1968 (available through University Microfilm)
- [12] J.A. Goguen, The fuzzy Tychonoff theorem, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 43 (1973) 734-742.
- [13] S. Gottwald, Fuzzy points and local properties of fuzzy topological spaces, Fuzzy Sets and Systems 5 (1981) 199-201.
- [14] K. Horiuchi, Mode-Type Operators on Fuzzy Sets, Fuzzy Sets and Systems, to appear.

- [15] K. Horiuchi and C. Omoto, II-fuzzy Topological Vector Space I. Memoirs of The Graduate School of Science and Technology, Kobe University. to appear (No.5-A, March, 1987)
- [16] K. Horiuchi and H. Murakami, A Note on Fuzzy Sets, Southeast Asian Bulletin of Mathematics. to appear (Vol.11, No.1, 1987)
- [17] K. Horiuchi, On II-fuzzy topological spaces, submitted to J. Math. Anal. Appl.
- [18] B. Hutton, Conpactification Theory for Fuzzy Topological Spaces, Part I, Auckland Report No.130 April, 1978.
- [19] B. Hutton, Products of fuzzy topological spaces, Topology and Appl. 11 (1980) 59 - 67.
- [20] B. Hutton and I. Reilly, Separation axioms in fuzzy topological spaces, Fuzzy Sets and Systems 3 (1980) 93-104.
- [21] A.K. Katsaras and D.B. Liu, Fuzzy vector spaces and fuzzy topological vector spaces, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 58 (1977) 135-146.
- [22] A.K. Katsaras, Fuzzy topological vector spaces I, Fuzzy Sets and Systems 6 (1981) 85-95.
- [23] A.K. Katsaras, Fuzzy topological vector spaces II, Fuzzy Sets and Systems 12 (1984) 143-154.
- [24] E.P. Klement, Construction of Fuzzy σ-Algebras Using Triangular Norms, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 85 (1982) 543-565.
- [25] R. Lowen, Fuzzy topological spaces and fuzzy compactness, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 56 (1976) 621-633.
- [26] R. Lowen, Initial and Final Fuzzy Topologies and the Fuzzy Tychonoff Theorem, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 58 (1977) 11-21.
- [27] R. Lowen, A comparison of Different Compactness Notions in Fuzzy Topological Spaces, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 64 (1978) 446 -454.
- [28] R. Lowen. Convergence in fuzzy topological spaces Topology and Appl. 10 (1979) 147-160.
- [29] R. Lowen, Compact Hausdorff fuzzy topological spaces are topological, Topology and Appl. 12 (1981) 65-74.
- [30] R. Lowen, Fuzzy neighborhood spaces, Fuzzy Sets and Systems 7 (1982) 165-189.
- [31] R. Lowen, "On the Existence of Natural Non-topological, Fuzzy Topological Spaces" (R and E 11), Helderman Verlay Berlin 1985.

- [32] K. Menger, Statistical metric space, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. USA 28 (1942) 535-537.
- [33] C.V. Negoita and D.A. Ralescu, Applications of fuzzy sets to system analysis (Birkhauser, Basel, 1975).
- [34] P.M. Pu and Y.M. Liu, Fuzzy topology I: Neighborhood structure of a fuzzy point and Moore-Smith convergence, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 76 (1980) 571-599.
- [35] B. Schweizer and A. Sklar, Statistical metric spaces, Pacific J. Math. 10 (1960) 313-334.
- [36] B. Schweizer and A. Sklar, Associative functions and statistical triangle inequalities, Publ. Math. Debrecen 8(1961) 169-186.
- [37] B. Schweizer and A. Sklar, Associative functions and abstract semigroups, Publ. Math. Debrecen 10 (1963) 69-81.
- [38] D.S. Scott, A proof of the independence of the continuum hypothesis, Math. Syst. Theory 1 (1967) 89-111.
- [39] R.H. Warren, Neighborhood bases and continuity in fuzzy topological spaces, Rocky Mountain J. Math. 8 (1978) 459-470.
- [40] R.H. Warren, Fuzzy topologies characterized by neighborhood systems, Rocky Mount. J. Math. 9 (1979) 761-764.
- [41] Wang Guojun, A New Fuzzy Compactness Defined by Fuzzy Nets, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 94 (1983) 1-23.
- [42] C.K. Wong, Fuzzy Topology: Product and Quotient Theorems, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 45 (1974) 512-521.
- [43] C.K. Wong, Fuzzy Points and Local Properties of Fuzzy Topology, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 46 (1976) 316-328.
- [44] L.A. Zadeh, Fuzzy sets, Inform. Contr. 8 (1965) 338-353.